
Democratic Services Contact Officer: Victoria Wallace 03450 450 500 democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9 November 2020 
 
To:  
 Members of the Licensing (2003 Act) Sub-Committee – Councillors 

Bill Handley, Deborah Roberts and Eileen Wilson 
  
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
Please find below the agenda, and attached the relevant papers, for the hearing by the 
Licensing (2003 Act) Sub-Committee on Friday, 4 December 2020 at , 10.00am, for 
the review of the premises licence for Wild Wood Events Ltd. The hearing will be 
conducted remotely using the Microsoft Teams video-conferencing system. There will 
be no access to the meeting at the Council offices, but a live stream of the meeting will 
be available via Microsoft Teams. A web link enabling members of the Press and Public 
to view or listen to proceedings, will be published on the relevant page of the Council’s 
website, at least 24 hours before the hearing. 
 
Members are respectfully reminded that when substituting on committees, 
subcommittees, and outside or joint bodies, Democratic Services must be advised of 
the substitution in advance of the meeting.  It is not possible to accept a substitute 
once the meeting has started.  Council Standing Order 4.3 refers. 
 
Yours faithfully 
Liz Watts 
Chief Executive 
 
Requests for a large print agenda must be received at least 48 hours before the 
meeting. 
 

 
Agenda 

Pages 
1. Appointment of Chair   
 
2. Introductions / Procedure  1 - 4 
 The Chairman will introduce the members of the Sub-Committee and the 

officers in attendance at the meeting. 
 
A copy of the Licensing (2003 Act) Committee procedure is attached. 

 

   
3. Declarations of Interest   
 
4. Review of the premises licence for Wild Wood Events Ltd  5 - 256 
 

 

 

South Cambridgeshire Hall 

Cambourne Business Park 

Cambourne 

Cambridge 

CB23 6EA 

t: 03450 450 500 

f: 01954 713149 

www.scambs.gov.uk 



 Guidance notes for members of the public for remote meetings 
 Members of the public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting, except during the 

consideration of exempt or confidential items, by following the link to be published on the Council’s 
website.  
 
Any person who participates in the meeting in accordance with the Council’s procedure rules, is deemed 
to have consented to being recorded and to the use of those images (where participating via video 
conference) and/or sound recordings for webcast purposes. When speaking, members of the public 
should not disclose any personal information of any individual as this might infringe on the rights of that 
individual and breach the Data Protection Act. 
 
For more information about this meeting please contact democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk  

   

mailto:democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk


SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Licensing Act 2003 Sub-Committee 
 

Virtual Hearings Procedure  
 

1. Before the hearing 

 To assist in the conduct of the remote hearing and in case of technical difficulties during 

the hearing, all parties should submit by email to democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk , 

written submissions no later than 24 hours before the hearing is due to start, summarising 

the points they wish to make at the hearing and the outstanding issues. If it is not possible 

to post or submit written representations electronically by email, please contact the 

Licensing Officer by telephone to arrange for comments to be transcribed. 

 All parties making representations will join the hearing by tele-conferencing or video-

conferencing. All parties must provide the Licensing Officer with their email address and 

telephone number, no later than 48 hours before the hearing so they can be provided with 

details to join the hearing. This is to enable arrangements to be made for parties to join 

the hearing remotely.  

 All parties should join the remote meeting 10 minutes before it is due to start in case of 

technical difficulties. All parties will be held in a lobby until they are admitted to the 

meeting. 

 

2. Election of Chair 

 Members of the sub-committee will elect a Chair for the hearing.  

 

3. Introduction 

 The Chair of the sub-committee will welcome and introduce everyone present, giving 

explanations of roles where necessary and outline the procedure to be followed. 

 The hearing will take the form of a discussion to be led by the sub-committee and will take the 

following format: 

 Report from Licensing Officer; 

 Representations from The Applicant  

 Representations from the Police  

 Representations from Responsible Authorities  

 Representations from Interested Parties  

 Members of the sub-committee will be able to ask questions of any party, or the Licensing 

Officer, at the hearing. Questions will be asked at the conclusion of each party’s submission. 

On the conclusion of each party’s submission, the Chair will invite each sub-committee 

member in turn, whether they wish to ask a question/s. If any member of the sub-committee 

subsequently wishes to ask further questions, they should indicate this wish to the Chair by 

using the meeting chat function.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

mailto:democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk


 When not speaking, all panel members should mute their microphones. Participants attending 

via teleconference should wait for the Chair to call them to speak.  

 The Chair will ask each party whether they wish to ask questions of any of the other parties. 

The sub-committee will consider any requests for permission to ask questions of other 

parties. The sub-committee will decide if questions are required in order for it to consider the 

case properly. If permission is given to one party, it will usually be given to all other parties. 

 Any person behaving in a disruptive manner will be removed from the meeting. Such a 

person may, before the end of the hearing, submit to the authority in writing by post or email 

to democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk , any information which they would have been 

entitled to give orally had they not been required to leave. If it is not possible to submit this 

information by post or email, the information can be provided orally by telephone to the 

Licensing Officer.  

 Members of the sub-committee will be asked to make any Declaration of Interests. 

 In the event that the Chair or Clerk identifies a failure of the remote participation facility, the 

Chair will declare a recess while the fault is addressed. 

 If it is not possible to address the fault, the meeting will be adjourned until such time as it can 

be reconvened. 

 

4. Witnesses 

The sub-committee will consider any requests from any of the parties to call witnesses. Any such 

requests must be submitted to the Licensing Officer and also by email to 

democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk  at least two working days before the hearing. This is to enable 

arrangements to be made for witnesses to be able to join the hearing remotely should permission be 

granted. 

 

5. New evidence/information  

The sub-committee will consider any requests for permission to present new evidence or information 

not previously disclosed to all the parties and the sub-committee prior to the hearing. The general 

rule is that such information or evidence must not be considered unless all parties at the hearing 

agree to it being considered on the day of the hearing. A request may be made for a short 

adjournment to allow time for everyone to receive copies of the extra information and time to read it. 

 

6. Allocation of time 

Each party will be asked for a time estimate for the presentation of their case. The sub-committee will 

hear all estimates and then allocate each party an equal amount of time to speak. 

 

7. Licensing Officer’s report 

The Council’s Licensing Officer will outline details of the application and representations received by 

the council. No recommendation to members will be made. 
Page 2

mailto:democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk


 

 

8. Applicant’s case 

The Chair will invite the applicant to present their case first. They have a right to: 

 address the sub-committee on any points of clarification the council has sought. 

 address the committee generally; and 

 call any witnesses that they have been given permission to call. The applicant must notify the 

Licensing Officer and Democratic Services (democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk) of their 

wish to call any witnesses, at least two working days before the hearing to allow 

arrangements to be made to enable the witness/es to join the hearing remotely should 

permission be granted by the sub-committee. Witnesses may be cross- examined if 

permission is granted. If this happens, the time taken for questions will count towards the 

allocated time of the party asking the questions, not the party answering them. 

 Members of the sub-committee may ask questions of the applicant. The Chair will invite sub-

committee members in turn, to ask questions.  

 

9. Police representations 

The Police will make any representations about the application, with the same rights as listed at s.7. 

Members of the sub-committee may ask questions of the police representative. The Chair will invite 

sub-committee members in turn, to ask questions.  

 

10. “Responsible authorities” representations 

Other “responsible authorities” (Police/Fire/Environmental Health Officer/Social Services/Trading 

Standards/Planning Directorate) will then make representations, with the same rights as listed at s.7. 

Members of the sub-committee may ask questions of those authorities represented. The Chair will 

invite sub-committee members in turn, to ask questions.  

 

11. Any other representations 

Anybody else making representations will go last, with the same rights listed at s.7. Members of the 

sub-committee may ask questions of any person who has made a representation. The Chair will 

invite sub-committee members in turn, to ask questions.  

 

12. Legal advice 

Once all parties have presented their cases to the sub-committee, and the members of the sub-

committee have no more questions for any of the parties, the Council’s Legal Officer will be asked by 

the Chair, to outline any relevant legal guidance. 

 

 

 Page 3

mailto:democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk


13. Decision-making 

The Live Feed will be closed to allow the sub-committee to consider its decision in private. All 

attendees apart from the sub-committee members, Council’s Legal Officer and Clerk, will be asked to 

leave the meeting while the sub-committee considers its decision. The Council’s Legal Officer and 

Clerk will remain in the meeting with the sub-committee members to advise where necessary and 

take notes of the decision. 

 

14. Notification of decision 

A determination of the case will be made at the conclusion of the hearing and all parties will be 

notified of the decision in writing as soon as possible. The decision will be also be published on the 

Council’s website. 

 

Page 4



 

South Cambridgeshire District Council 

___________________________________________________________________ 

Report to:  Licensing Sub-Committee (2003 Act) 

Author/s:  Licensing Officer  

Date:   17 November 2020 

Lead Officer: Jane Jackson 

___________________________________________________________________ 

The application 

1. On the 29 October 2020, an application was made by John Howard on behalf 

of Horseheath Parish Council under S.51 of the Licensing Act 2003 (as 

amended) for a Review of the Premises Licence for TL 6137 4711 Wild Wood 

Events Ltd.  Licence number SCDCPL0515. 

Appendix A 

 

The location 

 

2. The premises location is TL 6137 4711, Woodland and Surrounding Area, 

Linton, CB21 4QP.  The premises are situated near to Horseheath Racecourse 

and close to Horseheath and Cardinals Green. 

Appendix B 

 

The review process 

 

3. The proceedings set out in the 2003 Act (as amended) for reviewing premises 

licences and club premises certificates represent a key protection for the 

community where problems associated with the licensing objectives occur after 

the grant or variation of a premises licence or club premises certificate. 

 

4. At any stage, following the grant of a premises licence or club premises 

certificate, a responsible authority, or any other person, may ask the licensing 

authority to review the licence or certificate because of a matter arising at the 

premises in connection with any of the four licensing objectives: 

 

 The Prevention of Crime and Disorder 

 Public Safety 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 The Prevention of Public Nuisance 

 The Protection of Children from Harm 

 

The current Premises Licence 

 

5. The premises licence holder is Wild Woods Events Ltd and it has been held 
since 21 May 2019. 
 

6. The Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) is Victoria Fenton. 
 

7. The licensable activities permitted by the licence are: 
 
Performance of a play (Indoors & Outdoors) 

Thursday 10:00 – 00:00 
Friday  10:00 – 02:00 
Saturday 10:00 – 02:00 
Sunday 10:00 – 00:00 
 
 
Exhibition of films (Indoors & Outdoors) 

Thursday 10:00 – 00:00 
Friday  10:00 – 02:00 
Saturday 10:00 – 02:00 
Sunday 10:00 – 00:00 
 
 
Performance of live music (Indoors & Outdoors) 

Thursday 10:00 – 00:00 
Friday  10:00 – 02:00 
Saturday 10:00 – 02:00 
Sunday 10:00 – 00:00 
 
 
Playing of recorded Music (Indoors & Outdoors) 

Thursday 10:00 – 00:00 
Friday  10:00 – 02:00 
Saturday 10:00 – 02:00 
Sunday 10:00 – 00:00 
 
 
Performance of dance (Indoors & Outdoors) 

Thursday 10:00 – 00:00 
Friday  10:00 – 02:00 
Saturday 10:00 – 02:00 
Sunday 10:00 – 00:00 
 
 

Page 6



Late Night Refreshment on and off the premises 

Thursday  23:00 – 05:00 
Friday  23:00 – 05:00 
Saturday  23:00 – 05:00 
 
 
The Sale by Retail of Alcohol for consumption on the premises only 

Thursday  10:00 – 23:40 
Friday  12:00 – 01:40 
Saturday 10:00 – 01:40 
Sunday 10:00 – 00:00 
 
 
Provision of facilities for entertainment of a similar description to that live 

music, recorded music or performance of dance 

Thursday 10:00 – 00:00 
Friday  10:00 – 02:00 
Saturday 10:00 – 02:00 
Sunday 10:00 – 00:00  
 
 
Premises opening hours 

Thursday 10:00 – 03:00 
Friday  10:00 – 03:00 
Saturday 10:00 – 03:00 
Sunday 10:00 – 00:00 
 

8. A copy of the current licence and conditions is attached. 

Appendix C 

 

9. A copy of the current premises plan is attached 

Appendix D 

 

10. The application was sent to all responsible authorities for consultation as part 

of the licensing review process. 

 

11. Notification of the review was sent to 167 neighbouring properties. 

 

12. In accordance with the Licensing Act 2003 a notification of the review was 

displayed by this Local Authority at: 

 

 on, or near the site of the premises 

 the main office of South Cambridgeshire District Council 

 the Licensing Public Notice page of this Licensing Authorities website 
 

Page 7



The licence holder’s response 

 
23 October 2020 

In response to the application to review the premises licence, the licence holder 

submitted the following documents: 

 
Report responding to the application of Review for Wild Wood Events Ltd 
Premises Licence  
Appendix E 

 
Parish Council actions from licence holder 
Appendix F 

 
Event Management Plan 
Appendix G 

 
HK Security Report 
Appendix H 

 
Spaced out weekend production schedule sheet 1 
Appendix I 

 
Sunset socials production schedule – sheet 1 
Appendix J 

 
Wild Wood Events Ltd – General Risk Assessment 2020 
Appendix K 

 
Wild Wood Events Ltd COVID-19 Risk Assessment 
Appendix L 

 
Wild Wood Events Ltd COVID-19 – Guests to Read 
Appendix M 

 

Wild Woods Events Ltd Working Safely with covid-19 
Appendix N 

 
Woodville Project – Boutique Camping COVID-19 
Appendix O 

Representations (objections & support) 

13. As part of the process the Licence holder has been made aware of the 

representations of objection and support.   

Appendix P 

 

Page 8



 

14. A representation was received from Environmental Health.  This was also sent 

to the Licence Holder. 

Appendix Q 

Screen shots from ‘My Little Festival’ Facebook page referred to in section 3 of 

the representation from Environmental Health. 

Appendix R 

 

 After viewing the above screen shots, the Licence Holder stated the following: 

‘These aren’t photos taken at this years event, just trying to show 

representations of our sundown stage and woodland path, to give people an 

idea of what to expect’ 

 

15. On the 3 November 2020, the Licence Holder responded to the representations.  
This response was sent to all the representees, the applicant and 
Environmental Health. 
Appendix S 

Responses to the Licence Holder’s response to representations – (to date) 

16. Representation no. 17 was withdrawn 
 
Representation no. 2 did not with to withdraw their representation 
 

Representation no. 3 stated: 

Our response to that is simple - the noise cut off time was certainly not adhered 
too , or in the previous years events either. For a company that claims such 
ethical values, We find the very thinly veiled threat to take action against John 
Howard absolutely appalling and unwarranted in any way. Trying to bully your 
route to a permission has alienated all the residents even more . We very much 
doubt they will find any support whatsoever after making this statement.  

Representation no. 11 stated: 

Having read the submission from the event organiser we note that our serious 

concerns have not been addressed. These include the very high noise levels 

imposed on residents of Horseheath, and the welfare of birds and mammals 

living in the wood. 

Frankly we are shocked at the hostile and lecturing tone taken, the 

unsubstantiated accusations made against our Parish Council Chairman and 

the reference to the possibility of legal action. 

This was really not the correct or professional way to make their case, and 

therefore we will not be withdrawing our submission, 

Page 9



 

Officer’s Views 

 

17. Members when considering the application should be aware that they may only 

take into consideration the parts of the application that represent the licensing 

objectives. 

 The Prevention of Crime and Disorder 

 Public Safety 

 The Prevention of Public Nuisance 

 The Protection of Children from Harm 

 

18. To achieve these objectives the Council will use its full range of powers and will 
engage all relevant responsibilities including planning controls, transport 
controls, crime reduction controls and relevant policies or strategies that will 
promote the licensing objectives. The Council will work closely with the Police, 
Fire Service, businesses, community representatives and local people in 
meeting these objectives. 
 

19. Members have the right under the Licensing Act 2003 (as amended) to 

determine this application after considering any relevant representations. 

 

In making the final determination Members may  

 

 modify the conditions of the premises licence 

 exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence 

 remove the designated premises supervisor from the licence 

 suspend the licence for a period not exceeding 3 months  

 revoke revocation of the licence  

 
Modification of the conditions of the premises licence can include the alteration 
or modification of existing conditions or addition of any new conditions, 
including those that restrict the times at which licensable activities authorised 
by the licence can take place.  
 

Policy Considerations 

20. Members must also have regard to The South Cambridgeshire Licensing Policy 
relating to the Prevention of Crime and Disorder, Public Safety, The Prevention 
of Public Nuisance and The Protection of Children from Harm.   

Legal Implications 

21. All parties will maintain a right of appeal to a Magistrate’s Court after the determination of 

this committee. 

 

Page 10



Contact Officer:  Jane Jackson – Resource Team Leader   

   Telephone: (01954) 713635 

 

Appendix A Application form 

Appendix B Google map of premises 

Appendix C Current licence and conditions 

Appendix D Premises plan  

Appendix E Licence holders report responding Premises Licence review 

Appendix F Parish Council actions from licence holder 

Appendix G Event Management Plan 

Appendix H   HK Security Report 

Appendix I Spaced out weekend production schedule sheet 1 

Appendix J Sunset socials production schedule – sheet 1 

Appendix K Wild Wood Events Ltd – General Risk Assessment 2020 

Appendix L Wild Wood Events Ltd COVID-19 Risk Assessment 

Appendix M Wild Wood Events Ltd COVID-19 – Guests to Read 

Appendix N Wild Woods Events Ltd Working Safely with covid-19 

Appendix O Woodville Project – Boutique Camping COVID-19 

Appendix P List of representations of objection and support 

Appendix Q Representation from Environmental Health 

Appendix R Screen shots from Facebook 

Appendix S Licence holder response to representations 

Page 11



This page is left blank intentionally.



APPENDIX A

Page 13



(A) DETAILS OF INOIVl>UAL APPLICANT (fiD in as applicable)

Please tick ✓ yes

Mr D Mrs 0 Miss D 

Surname 

Ms 0 

First names 

Other title IJA.. 
(for example, Rev) 

.___H_�_w/W..P ___ ___.I I 
I am 18 years old or over 

'! t)t1.� GUil 1r10/'n� I 
�tick✓yes

Current postal 
address if 
different from 
premises 
address 

Posttown 

 

 
 

I I
PoatCode 

 -
Daytime contact telephone number 

E-mall address
(optlonal) 

(B) DETAILS OF OTHER APPLICANT

Name and address 

Telephone number {if any) 

E-mail address (optional)

Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



d) Holding the event on the 12th
-13th September in disregard of cabinet minister's advice

appears to have been a grossly irresponsible act which could spread Covid-19. We are

aware the event was advertised very widely encouraging people to attend from all over the

country. The fact that social distancing did not to occur raises serious concerns about the

possibility of this event becoming a seeding event within Horseheath Parish. Despite the

statement on the website by the organiser recommending safe social distancing was

practised by attendees, in practice this was neither followed nor enforced. This again raises

questions about the management capability of the event organiser and suggests they are

unsuitable supervisors.

We note the organiser's intentions to expand the number of festivals next year. We 

suggest that on current evidence the licence holder has not acted in a fit and proper 

manner in accordance with the terms of the premises licence. 

Horseheath Parish Council seeks comments from the South Cambridgeshire District 

Council's Licensing Office, Health and Environmental Safety and Cambridgeshire Police on 

the complaint and concerns raised. 

Background 

Thurlow Estate (http://www.thurlowestate.co.uk/) owns the Point to Point racecourse and the 

land around it. One of these areas is Crofts Wood (grid reference 603468). This is a mixed 

deciduous woodland which has had a hunting ride within it but otherwise has been relatively 

undisturbed. Local wildlife includes Roe and Fallow deer, foxes, bats, badgers, barn owls, 

buzzards and Red Kites. 

In July 2017 My Little Festival Ltd (https://mylittlefestival.uk/) held an event entitled the 

Wildwood Disco in the wood by arrangement with the landowner, Thurlow Estate. We are 

unaware if an approach was made to the Parish Council that year but we have no 

information about any approaches in either 2018 or 2019. In June 2018 and 2019 the event 

was repeated, along with a family fun day entitled the Wildwood Rumpus which also 

included an overnight camping option. 

The Parish Council received the following email on 13th June 2019: 

From: 

Sent: 13 June 2019 11 :50 

To: 

Subject: The Wildwood Disco - 22nd June 2019 

Dear Sir/ Madam, 

I am organising The Wild Wood Disco on Horseheath Racecourse on the 22nd June 

2019. We are doing everything we can to make sure this event does not disrupt anyone 

living locally, it is only a small event at around 2,000 people and ends at 2am, but we want 

to give out a phone number to call in case of any disturbances. 

The number is: 

Yours sincerely, 

Page 21



Vicky Fenton 

Nat Laffaille 

During the event, residents of Horseheath expressed concern about the noise emanating 

from the Disco. Since it was considered to be a single event no action was taken by 

Horseheath Parish Council. 

In 2020, following some clearing of trees, My Little Festival trading as Wild Wood Events Ltd, 

arranged with Thurlow Estate to use the wood as a leisure venue on payment of a fee. Vicky 
Fenton, the director of My Little Festival, obtained a premises licence for the use of the wood 
from South Cambridgeshire District Council - see: 

(https:/ /licensing. scambs. gov .uk/PAforlalpacL IVE/ 1 /Lice nsingActPremises/Search/3413/Det 

ail?LIC 10=16431) 

A website for the wild wood disco was also established as well as social media outlets (see 

https://www.thewildwooddisco.com/). 

The licence was granted by South Cambs Licensing without discussion with the District or 

County councillors for the area or with the Parish Council. 

The licence was for 3 one day events between 1st May to the 1st October 2020; the 

designated premises supervisor was Miss Vicky Fenton. The maximum number of paying 

public, guests and artists was stated as 2,500 people with no more than 3,000 people on the 

site at any one time. The licence specifically states that a maximum of three one day events 

can be held per calendar year, and that no events can be held at any other time. 

On 18th June 2020 the following email was received by Dr John Howard, Horseheath Parish 

Council Chair: 

Hello John, 

My name is Vicky and I organise some of the events that happen in the woods at 

Horseheath Racecourse. 

This Saturday would normally be the date of The Wild Wood Disco, instead of doing this we 

are doing a charity music stream in aid of The Trussell Trust who run most of the UK 

Foodbanks. I wanted to let you know as a matter of courtesy, in case you had heard 

through the grapevine that we are doing something, exactly what is we are doing considering 

the current situation. They'll be a maximum of 14 people on site at any one time and no use 

of proper speakers, so therefore no noise to be heard-the music is streamed to people to 

enjoy at home who will hopefully donate to the charity. We are very grateful to Thurlow 

Estate for allowing us to do this and really hope we can raise plenty of money for a very 

good cause that needs our help so much during the pandemic. 

All the best, 

Vicky Fenton 

We note this event was held in the middle of lockdown. We believe this was inappropriate. 

Subsequently, a three-day Wildwood Festival was held from the 21 st-23rc1 August in Crofts 

Wood. No prior communication was received by Horseheath Parish Council from any party. 

Page 22



Page 23



to test a Covid safe approach to crowds watching football, and the public Air Show at the 

Imperial War Museum, Duxford. However the Wildwood event went ahead, entitled a 
"Sunset Social". It was advertised nationally on social media and included a statement "Fed 
up with festivals being cancelled? Here is one you can attend .... " It also included available 

tents for three days (see https://www.woodvilleproject.co.uk/paqes/sunsetsocials) although 
the event was scheduled to run from midday on Saturday 12th to 2pm on Sunday 13th

• No

formal - or further informal communication - occurred between Miss Fenton and Horseheath 
Parish Council. 

We are not aware of any Covid secure risk assessment or plan. Presumably the South 
Cambs Licensing Office has this information; Horseheath Parish Council would like to 

inspect both the Noise Management Plan and the Covid-19 Risk Assessment and plan 

and request South Cambs Licensing Office to make these documents available. 

Residents of Horseheath complained about the noise during the event. Music was heard to 
continue until 6pm on Sunday. A resident living at the Haverhill end of Horseheath informed 

the Parish Council there was so much noise in her house that her grandchild could not 
sleep. Other residents could hear the music in their houses after 6pm on Sunday 13th 

September. 

The event included alcohol. Two eye-witnesses of the event said that there was no apparent 

social distancing during the event. Images on My Little Festival's Facebook page (see 
https://www .facebook.com/mylittlefestie) and I nstagram 

(https://www.instaqram.com/thewildwooddisco/?hl=en) confirm this. These images clearly 
show more than 30 people in close proximity. 

Horseheath Parish Council held a meeting on Monday 14th September at which the 

Wildwood disco operations were discussed. It was agreed that a formal complaint should be 
submitted to the Licensing Office and that the Parish Council would also write to the owner 
of the site. 

On the 19th September the Parish Council understood that there was a rumour that an illegal 
rave might be conducted on the site that evening. At 10pm that night the police were 
observed once again in Cardinals Green. We consider it inevitable that poachers, those 

wishing to undertake illegal events and other persons are likely to be attracted to the 

Horseheath site as a result of the activities of My Little Festival, underlining the need for the 

residents of Horseheath to have some awareness of and input in to the licencing and 
frequency of festival and other events in Horseheath Parish. 

Please note that the names of events have varied and the actual names of the differing 
events may not be in accordance with the narrative above. 

Page 24



APPENDIX B

P
age 25

Jane Jackson
Cross-Out



T
his page is left blank intentionally.



This licence is issued by :- South Cambridgeshire District Council, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, 
Cambridgeshire, CB23 6EA. Contact  t: 03450 450 500  f: 01954 713149  e: scdc@scambs.gov.uk  dx:  729500 Cambridge 15  
www.scambs.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence
SCDCPL0515

POSTAL ADDRESS OF PREMISES, OR IF NONE, ORDNANCE SURVEY MAP REFERENCE OR DESCRIPTION

TL 6137 4711 Wild Wood Events Ltd
TL 6137 4711, Woodland & Surrounding Area- Horseheath Racecourse, Linton, CB21 4QP.

WHERE THE LICENCE IS TIME LIMITED THE DATES

21/05/20Commences
APP_LIC_DATE_EXPIRES

20/05/2021
LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES AUTHORISED BY THE LICENCE

a performance of a play-

an exhibition of a film-

a performance of live music-

any playing of recorded music-

a performance of dance-

entertainment of a similar description to that falling within entertainment facilities for making music or dancing-

provision of late night refreshment-

the sale by retail of alcohol-

THE TIMES THE LICENCE AUTHORISES THE CARRYING OUT OF LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES

Activity (and Area if applicable) Description Time From Time To

A.  Performance of a play (Indoors & Outdoors)
Thursday 10:00am Midnight
Friday 10:00am Midnight
Saturday Midnight 2:00am
Saturday 10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 2:00am
Sunday 10:00am Midnight

B.  Exhibition of films (Indoors & Outdoors)
Thursday 10:00am Midnight
Friday Midnight 2:00am
Friday 10:00am Midnight
Saturday Midnight 2:00am
Saturday 10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 2:00am
Sunday 10:00am Midnight

E.  Performance of live music (Indoors & Outdoors)
Thursday 10:00am Midnight
Friday 10:00am Midnight
Saturday Midnight 2:00am
Saturday 10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 2:00am
Sunday 10:00am Midnight

F.  Playing of recorded music (Indoors & Outdoors)
Thursday 10:00am Midnight
Friday 10:00am Midnight

Part 1 - Premises Details

Printed by LalPac on 04 Nov 2020 at 13:48 Page 1 of 11
NOT Printing Summary SCDCPL0515/52506

APPENDIX C

Page 27



This licence is issued by :- South Cambridgeshire District Council, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, 
Cambridgeshire, CB23 6EA. Contact  t: 03450 450 500  f: 01954 713149  e: scdc@scambs.gov.uk  dx:  729500 Cambridge 15  
www.scambs.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence
SCDCPL0515

THE TIMES THE LICENCE AUTHORISES THE CARRYING OUT OF LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES  continued ...

Activity (and Area if applicable) Description Time From Time To

F.  Playing of recorded music (Indoors & Outdoors)  continued ...
Saturday Midnight 2:00am
Saturday 10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 2:00am
Sunday 10:00am Midnight

G.  Performance of dance (Indoors & Outdoors)
Thursday 10:00am Midnight
Friday 10:00am Midnight
Saturday Midnight 2:00am
Saturday 10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 2:00am
Sunday 10:00am Midnight

K.  Provision of facilities for entertainment of a similar description to that falling within I or J (Indoors & Outdoors)
Thursday 10:00am Midnight
Friday 10:00am Midnight
Saturday Midnight 2:00am
Saturday 10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 2:00am
Sunday 10:00am Midnight

L.  Late night refreshment (Indoors & Outdoors)
Thursday 11:00pm Midnight
Friday Midnight 5:00am
Friday 11:00pm Midnight
Saturday Midnight 5:00am
Saturday 11:00pm Midnight
Sunday Midnight 5:00am

M.  The sale by retail of alcohol for consumption ON the premises only
Thursday 10:00am 11:40pm
Friday 10:00am Midnight
Saturday Midnight 1:40am
Saturday 10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 1:40am
Sunday 10:00am Midnight

THE OPENING HOURS OF THE PREMISES

Description Time From Time To

Thursday 10:00am Midnight
Friday Midnight 3:00am

10:00am Midnight
Saturday Midnight 3:00am

10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 3:00am

10:00am Midnight

WHERE THE LICENCE AUTHORISES SUPPLIES OF ALCOHOL WHETHER THESE ARE ON AND / OR OFF SUPPLIES

- M.  The sale by retail of alcohol for consumption ON the premises only

Printed by LalPac on 04 Nov 2020 at 13:48 Page 2 of 11
NOT Printing Summary SCDCPL0515/52506Page 28



This licence is issued by :- South Cambridgeshire District Council, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, 
Cambridgeshire, CB23 6EA. Contact  t: 03450 450 500  f: 01954 713149  e: scdc@scambs.gov.uk  dx:  729500 Cambridge 15  
www.scambs.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence
SCDCPL0515

Part 2

NAME, (REGISTERED) ADDRESS, TELEPHONE NUMBER AND EMAIL (WHERE RELEVANT) OF HOLDER OF PREMISES LICENCE

Telephone 01223 750274brian@safetygeeks.co.uk
50 Halifax Road, Cambridge, CB4 3PX.Wild Wood Events Ltd

REGISTERED NUMBER OF HOLDER, FOR EXAMPLE COMPANY NUMBER, CHARITY NUMBER (WHERE APPLICABLE)

11220459Wild Wood Events Ltd

NAME, ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBER OF DESIGNATED PREMISES SUPERVISOR WHERE THE PREMISES LICENCE
AUTHORISES THE SUPPLY OF ALCOHOL

Victoria FENTON 50 Halifax Road, Cambridge, Cambridgeshire, CB4 3PX.

PERSONAL LICENCE NUMBER AND ISSUING AUTHORITY OF PERSONAL LICENCE HELD BY DESIGNATED PREMISES SUPERVISOR
WHERE THE PREMISES LICENCE AUTHORISES FOR THE SUPPLY OF ALCOHOL

CAM001266Licence No. Issued by Cambridge

ANNEXES

1. The maximum number of paying members of the public, artists and guests allowed at the venue at 
any one time will be limited to 2,500 people, with no more than 3,000 persons in total permitted on 
the site at any one time, including all staff, volunteers and traders. Suitable records to be kept to 
demonstrate to the Licensing Authority that these numbers have not been exceeded. 

2. The Licence Holder is only permitted to hold up to a maximum of 3 x 1 day events at the premises 
between 1st May- 1st October, and none at any other time, within each calendar year.

3. The opening hours of the premises to be between:

Start Thursday 10:00 End Friday 03:00 

Start Friday 10:00 End Saturday 03:00

Start Saturday 10:00 End Sunday 03:00

Start Sunday 10:00 End Monday 00:00

4. Ensure an appropriate and suitable, nationally recognised, Age Verification/ Age Restricted Policy 
is adopted and is in place, which applies to the premises, in relation to the sale or supply of 
alcohol such as the 'Challenge 25' Policy.

5. Ensure that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age 
verification policy.

6. Only accredited identity cards, passports or photo ID driving licence, or a photo ID card as 
approved by central government, to be accepted as bona-fide recognised forms of identification. 

7. Notices shall be displayed on the website, on tickets, at the entrance and where alcohol is sold 
stating that a ‘Challenge 25’ Policy is in place. 

Printed by LalPac on 04 Nov 2020 at 13:48 Page 3 of 11
NOT Printing Summary SCDCPL0515/52506Page 29



This licence is issued by :- South Cambridgeshire District Council, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, 
Cambridgeshire, CB23 6EA. Contact  t: 03450 450 500  f: 01954 713149  e: scdc@scambs.gov.uk  dx:  729500 Cambridge 15  
www.scambs.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence
SCDCPL0515

ANNEXES  continued ...

8. Ensure a log book is kept at the premises which shall include each and every occasion, identifying 
the date and time, where there has been any refusal to sell alcohol and/ or any antisocial 
behaviour relating to alcohol sales.

9. Ensure all alcohol sales and all regulated entertainment cease at least 30 minutes before the 
premises closing hour. For events with more than 500 paying members of the public, artists and 
guests, all alcohol sales and all regulated entertainment must cease at least 60 minutes before 
the premises closing hour.

10. Ensure all safety certificates and inspection reports are kept at the premises and made available 
to officers of relevant statutory officers.

11. Notices shall be displayed at all entrances, including for artists, guests and the public, confirming 
the admission and ejection policies. 

12. The Licence Holder shall produce and implement a relevant Event Management Plan (EMP) for 
each event involving licensable activities at the premises. 

13. The event shall be run in accordance with the EMP and associated documents, as approved by 
the Licensing Authority.

14. All of the proposals set out in the EMP document submitted by the Licence Holder and approved 
by the Licensing Authority shall be conditions of the licence, with the document to be submitted, if 
necessary, in its draft format, to the Licensing Authority no later than 6 weeks before the event is 
to take place, and, if necessary, submitted in its final format to the Licensing Authority no later 
than 1 week before the event is to take place. 

The EMP document is to be tailored to each event and is to include at least the following, where 
relevant, and as agreed with the Licensing Authority: 

a. Traffic management plan. 

b. Security management plan. 

c. Admission policy, including any search policy. 

d. Ejection policy, including any banning policy. 

e. Drugs and alcohol management plan. 

f. Management plan(s) regarding health and safety, food safety and fire safety arrangements in 
relation to contractors supplying and providing food, water and drinks to the event. 

g. Noise management plan. 

h. Medical and welfare plan. 

i. Management plan(s) regarding protection of children and vulnerable persons.

j. Emergency procedures and contingency plans, to include evacuation plans and procedures in 
case of a serious incident or death at the site. 

k. Plan containing provision and management of on-site toilet facilities. The plan to include 
arrangements detailing the number and location of toilets, any disabled toilet provision; any 
separate provision for food handlers and the medical facility, and toilet emptying and cleaning 

Printed by LalPac on 04 Nov 2020 at 13:48 Page 4 of 11
NOT Printing Summary SCDCPL0515/52506Page 30



This licence is issued by :- South Cambridgeshire District Council, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, 
Cambridgeshire, CB23 6EA. Contact  t: 03450 450 500  f: 01954 713149  e: scdc@scambs.gov.uk  dx:  729500 Cambridge 15  
www.scambs.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence
SCDCPL0515

ANNEXES  continued ...

schedules. 

l. Management plan in relation to litter, refuse and waste water facilities on site. The plan to 
include arrangements detailing the number and type of waste receptacles and their capacity, the 
placement of waste receptacles on site, the methods and frequencies of collection, the control 
and disposal of site waste and that refuse and waste water facilities shall be positioned at 
strategic points in the vicinity of caterers.

m. Management plan regarding health and safety and fire safety arrangements in relation to 
contractors supplying and providing special effects, temporary structures and art installations to 
the event. 

n. Adverse weather plans, including appropriate contingency plans.

o. A gridded site plan, including all areas of the site under the control of the licence holder.

15.  The gridded site plan within the EMP is to include, where relevant: 

a. The perimeter, detailing the positioning of all entry and exit points; 

b. Any stages, tents and marquees. 

c. Any food vendors, bars and any merchandising vendors. 

d. The car park(s). 

e. The camp site(s).

f. Any site facilities, including lighting towers, generators, toilets, drinking water supply points, and 
where relevant, event control, security and production offices. 

g. Medical and welfare facilities.

h. Customer information point. 

i. Emergency rendezvous points and fire assembly points. 

j. Where relevant, directionality and orientation of sound systems associated with each music 
stage, tent and marquee. 

16. Any changes to the EMP document, and site plan referred to above, once submitted in the final 
format, shall not be made by the licence holder except with the prior consent of the Licensing 
Authority. 

17. The Licence holder shall ensure all plans and procedures included within the EMP are 
appropriately and suitably implemented for the duration of the licensed activities and premises 
hours of operation. 

18. For live and recorded music events, the licence holder shall ensure that a delegated named 
representative is responsible for handling complaints at all times during each event. Details of the 
named representative and contact telephone number, which will be staffed throughout the event, 
will be forwarded to the Licensing Authority, SCDC H&ES and Cambs Police at least 7 days prior 

Printed by LalPac on 04 Nov 2020 at 13:48 Page 5 of 11
NOT Printing Summary SCDCPL0515/52506Page 31



This licence is issued by :- South Cambridgeshire District Council, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, 
Cambridgeshire, CB23 6EA. Contact  t: 03450 450 500  f: 01954 713149  e: scdc@scambs.gov.uk  dx:  729500 Cambridge 15  
www.scambs.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence
SCDCPL0515

ANNEXES  continued ...

to the event

19. For live and recorded music events, a dedicated event incidents/ noise hotline number for 
incoming calls only is to be provided and staffed throughout the duration of the event. All incidents 
and noise complaints, and any action taken, should be recorded. Records to be made available to 
SCDC’s H&ES or Cambs Police on request. 

20. For live and recorded music events, the incident hotline number shall be provided to the clerks of 
neighbouring Parish Councils at least 7 days prior to the event. 

21. Ensure prominent, clear and legible notices are displayed within any campsites requesting users 
to respect the needs of local residents and to not play live or recorded music outside the hours of 
the licensable activities.

22. Periodic checks should be carried out at the boundary of the premises whilst live or recorded 
music is being played to ensure that noise sensitive properties, based on previous years’ 
complaints are not being, and will not be, adversely affected by the noise. Such checks to be 
carried out day time and night time with records kept of the date, time, location, decibel level, and 
action taken. Records to be made available to SCDC’s H&ES on request. 

23. The security management plan (SMP) will be tailored to each event, and may be required to 
include: 

a. Provision of appropriate and sufficient numbers of suitably competent SIA licensed and 
registered staff are employed and used, to be agreed with Cambridgeshire Constabulary 
(Cambs Police) and South Cambridgeshire District Council (SCDC) 3 weeks prior to each 
event and in accordance with the relevant risk assessment associated with each event.

b. Provision of a suitable CCTV system, including, where appropriate, body cameras for SIA 
security, to be in place to monitor entrances, exits, and other relevant areas of the premises 
accessible to the public to address the prevention of crime and disorder. The responsible 
person must ensure that the date and time settings on the system are correct, that the CCTV 
system is maintained in sound working order, and that any recordings from the CCTV system 
are kept for a minimum of 31 days, and that they must be made available, on demand, to any 
authorised officer

c. Admissions policy to require all persons (public, artists, guests, staff and volunteers)  to be 
subject to searches by security staff prior to the person being admitted to the event, in a 
manner agreed with statutory agencies prior to the event and in line with the search policy, 
which may include, where applicable, appropriate searches for offensive weapons; and: all 
persons attending the event not be admitted into the event with glass receptacles; all persons 
attending the event not to be allowed to bring alcoholic drinks into the event; and all persons 
attending the event only to be allowed to bring sealed bottles of non-alcoholic drinks into the 
event.

d. Amnesty bins to be provided at all entrances and be securely fixed at those points.

e. Every designated point of entry to the site to be such a size so as to reasonably permit the 
meaningful and effective control of those points by Stewards, Security Staff or Police, including 
any emergency evacuation, and to reasonably facilitate the safe and effective stop and search 
of persons where necessary.

Printed by LalPac on 04 Nov 2020 at 13:48 Page 6 of 11
NOT Printing Summary SCDCPL0515/52506Page 32



This licence is issued by :- South Cambridgeshire District Council, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, 
Cambridgeshire, CB23 6EA. Contact  t: 03450 450 500  f: 01954 713149  e: scdc@scambs.gov.uk  dx:  729500 Cambridge 15  
www.scambs.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence
SCDCPL0515

ANNEXES  continued ...

f.     To ensure that the perimeter of the site is controlled securely and so as to prevent access to 
the site of people or items, so far as reasonably practicable, other than through clearly 
designated points of entry. 

g. To ensure that the site is monitored effectively on the day of the event to prevent activities 
being carried out that may result in a public nuisance and crime and disorder. Security and/ or 
stewards to be readily available to patrol the site during these times to monitor for any activities 
which may result in public nuisance and crime and disorder.

24. Ensure appropriate and sufficient numbers of suitably competent stewards and volunteers are 
available and working throughout each event. Written instructions to be provided to stewards and 
volunteers prior to the event and verbal instructions to be given to stewards and volunteers on the 
morning of the event regarding their roles and responsibilities and the rules for working at the 
event, what action to take in the event of an accident, incident or serious incident occurring, and if 
emergency or contingency plans need to be enacted. 

25. Ensure that all relevant staff, including those selling alcohol, are appropriately and suitably trained 
on the requirements for persons' identification; establishing age; the adopted nationally 
recognised Age Restricted Policy; not serving alcohol to intoxicated persons; asking customers to 
use the site in an orderly and respectful manner, being aware of vulnerable persons, and adhering 
to Licensing and Environmental Health requirements. 

26. Ensure a means of two-way communication, effective and tailored to each event, is provided to 
report crime and disorder, and other, issues and incidents between stewards and event 
management, including the Event Safety Officer, the Event Manager, and where appropriate 
Cambridgeshire Constabulary (Cambs Police), Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service (CFRS) 
and on-site medics etc.

27. Provide and maintain suitable access, in all eventualities, for ‘Blue Light’ services to all parts of the 
site in consultation and agreement with CFRS, Cambs Police and on-site medics prior to the 
event, including contingency plans in the event of adverse weather conditions. 

28. Appropriate and suitable fire safety equipment to be strategically positioned throughout the site, in 
consultation and agreement with CFRS prior to each event. 

29. The Licence holder to ensure appropriate and suitable checks are carried out on food vendors 
and drinking water suppliers, prior to and during each event, to ensure, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, they are meeting the requirements of current food safety, drinking water and health 
and safety legislation. 

30. Ensure appropriate and effective measures are in place to make sure all films are shown in line 
with the classifications laid down by the BBFC (British Board of Film Classification).

31. Where music, dance and plays, or similar, are performed on the premises, ensure any child 
performer has in place the appropriate permits from the relevant Local Authority, and if necessary, 
is accompanied by a suitable, responsible adult. 

32. Ensure all relevant staff are aware of, and implement, where appropriate, the management plan(s) 
for the protection of children and vulnerable persons.

Printed by LalPac on 04 Nov 2020 at 13:48 Page 7 of 11
NOT Printing Summary SCDCPL0515/52506Page 33



This licence is issued by :- South Cambridgeshire District Council, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, 
Cambridgeshire, CB23 6EA. Contact  t: 03450 450 500  f: 01954 713149  e: scdc@scambs.gov.uk  dx:  729500 Cambridge 15  
www.scambs.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence
SCDCPL0515

ANNEXES  continued ...

Printed by LalPac on 04 Nov 2020 at 13:48 Page 8 of 11
Printing Summary SCDCPL0515/52506Page 34



This licence is issued by :- South Cambridgeshire District Council, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, 
Cambridgeshire, CB23 6EA. Contact  t: 03450 450 500  f: 01954 713149  e: scdc@scambs.gov.uk  dx:  729500 Cambridge 15  
www.scambs.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence Summary
SCDCPL0515

POSTAL ADDRESS OF PREMISES, OR IF NONE, ORDNANCE SURVEY MAP REFERENCE OR DESCRIPTION

TL 6137 4711 Wild Wood Events Ltd
TL 6137 4711, Woodland & Surrounding Area- Horseheath Racecourse, Linton, CB21 4QP.

WHERE THE LICENCE IS TIME LIMITED THE DATES

21/05/20Commences Fee due date 20/05/21

LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES AUTHORISED BY THE LICENCE

a performance of a play-

an exhibition of a film-

a performance of live music-

any playing of recorded music-

a performance of dance-

entertainment of a similar description to that falling within entertainment facilities for making music or dancing-

provision of late night refreshment-

the sale by retail of alcohol-

THE TIMES THE LICENCE AUTHORISES THE CARRYING OUT OF LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES

Activity (and Area if applicable) Description Time From Time To

A.  Performance of a play (Indoors & Outdoors)
Thursday 10:00am Midnight
Friday 10:00am Midnight
Saturday Midnight 2:00am
Saturday 10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 2:00am
Sunday 10:00am Midnight

B.  Exhibition of films (Indoors & Outdoors)
Thursday 10:00am Midnight
Friday Midnight 2:00am
Friday 10:00am Midnight
Saturday Midnight 2:00am
Saturday 10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 2:00am
Sunday 10:00am Midnight

E.  Performance of live music (Indoors & Outdoors)
Thursday 10:00am Midnight
Friday 10:00am Midnight
Saturday Midnight 2:00am
Saturday 10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 2:00am
Sunday 10:00am Midnight

F.  Playing of recorded music (Indoors & Outdoors)
Thursday 10:00am Midnight
Friday 10:00am Midnight

Premises Details

Printed by LalPac on 04 Nov 2020 at 13:48 Page 9 of 11
Printing Summary SCDCPL0515/52506Page 35



This licence is issued by :- South Cambridgeshire District Council, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, 
Cambridgeshire, CB23 6EA. Contact  t: 03450 450 500  f: 01954 713149  e: scdc@scambs.gov.uk  dx:  729500 Cambridge 15  
www.scambs.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence Summary
SCDCPL0515

THE TIMES THE LICENCE AUTHORISES THE CARRYING OUT OF LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES  continued ...

Activity (and Area if applicable) Description Time From Time To

F.  Playing of recorded music (Indoors & Outdoors)  continued ...
Saturday Midnight 2:00am
Saturday 10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 2:00am
Sunday 10:00am Midnight

G.  Performance of dance (Indoors & Outdoors)
Thursday 10:00am Midnight
Friday 10:00am Midnight
Saturday Midnight 2:00am
Saturday 10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 2:00am
Sunday 10:00am Midnight

K.  Provision of facilities for entertainment of a similar description to that falling within I or J (Indoors & Outdoors)
Thursday 10:00am Midnight
Friday 10:00am Midnight
Saturday Midnight 2:00am
Saturday 10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 2:00am
Sunday 10:00am Midnight

L.  Late night refreshment (Indoors & Outdoors)
Thursday 11:00pm Midnight
Friday Midnight 5:00am
Friday 11:00pm Midnight
Saturday Midnight 5:00am
Saturday 11:00pm Midnight
Sunday Midnight 5:00am

M.  The sale by retail of alcohol for consumption ON the premises only
Thursday 10:00am 11:40pm
Friday 10:00am Midnight
Saturday Midnight 1:40am
Saturday 10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 1:40am
Sunday 10:00am Midnight

THE OPENING HOURS OF THE PREMISES

Description Time From Time To

Thursday 10:00am Midnight
Friday Midnight 3:00am

10:00am Midnight
Saturday Midnight 3:00am

10:00am Midnight
Sunday Midnight 3:00am

10:00am Midnight

WHERE THE LICENCE AUTHORISES SUPPLIES OF ALCOHOL WHETHER THESE ARE ON AND / OR OFF SUPPLIES

- M.  The sale by retail of alcohol for consumption ON the premises only

Printed by LalPac on 04 Nov 2020 at 13:48 Page 10 of 11
Printing Summary SCDCPL0515/52506Page 36



This licence is issued by :- South Cambridgeshire District Council, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, 
Cambridgeshire, CB23 6EA. Contact  t: 03450 450 500  f: 01954 713149  e: scdc@scambs.gov.uk  dx:  729500 Cambridge 15  
www.scambs.gov.uk

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licence Summary
SCDCPL0515

NAME, (REGISTERED) ADDRESS OF HOLDER OF PREMISES LICENCE

50 Halifax Road, Cambridge, CB4 3PX.Wild Wood Events Ltd

REGISTERED NUMBER OF HOLDER, FOR EXAMPLE COMPANY NUMBER, CHARITY NUMBER (WHERE APPLICABLE)

11220459Wild Wood Events Ltd

NAME OF DESIGNATED PREMISES SUPERVISOR WHERE THE PREMISES LICENCE AUTHORISES THE SUPPLY OF ALCOHOL

Victoria FENTON

STATE WHETHER ACCESS TO THE PREMISES BY CHILDREN IS RESTRICTED OR PROHIBITED

Not applicable

Printed by LalPac on 04 Nov 2020 at 13:48 Page 11 of 11
Printing Summary SCDCPL0515/52506Page 37



This page is left blank intentionally.



APPENDIX D 

Page 39



Page 40



 

Report responding to the Objection of Wild Wood Events Ltd Premises License 

Complaints: 

1. The Licensing Process
I don’t believe we need to comment on this as these facts are wrong.

2. Infringement of the Licence by the Designated Premises Supervisor
Licensable activity on the site in 2020 equals less than 3 days.  21st ‐ 23rd August and
the 12th September.

Friday, 21st August licensable activity from 18:00 – 23:00 hours – 5 hours
Saturday, 22nd August 13:00 – 23:00 hours – 10 hours
Sunday, 23rd August 13:00‐ 17:00 hours ‐ 3 hours
Total Licensable Activity: 18 hours, less than 2 days

Saturday, 12th September 13:00 – 23:00 – 10 hours
Total Licensable Activity: 10 hours

There were no licensable activities on the other days mentioned in the objection.

B) We informed the Parish Council of all activities on site (including the non‐ 
licensable one) apart from before the weekend of the 21st August.  We did, very
unfortunately make a mistake and forget to inform the Parish Council.  This was a
matter discussed at length with John Howard on the phone.  I explained how quickly
we’d turned the event around and how so much of our attention was focused on
Covid precautions and ensuring the event was Covid friendly and in tune with the
WHO mass gatherings protocols. I told him I was very sorry and assured him this
would never happen again.  He accepted my apology and understood my actions
were unintentional.

C) Limiters were placed on the sound system which meant sound projected from the
speakers could not play music above 85 db.  To follow Government guidelines, we
set them at this level after sitting at the tables closest to the speakers to check we
could easily have a conversation with the music playing and would not need to raise
our voices to be heard.  We had been instructed by the council that the noise level
was up to the organiser,  but we needed to make sure that voices weren’t raised and
there was no need to shout to be heard above the music,  which can cause the
spread of coronavirus through droplets.  We took the added precaution of having
limiters as DJs can sometime turn the music up and we wanted to ensure it was kept
at the decided level throughout the day.  Security checked noise levels at the gates
(Manor Farm in Horseheath and the gate from the A1307) and around the event site
before and during the live event and very little sound was audible.

APPENDIX E

Page 41



D) There was no event on the Sunday, 13th September and music was played only 
while the crew litter picked and cleared up the event site.  This music was incredibly 
quiet; we couldn’t hear it in our crew area and was switched off around 6pm when 
we were finished working for the day.  The speakers used for the live event had been 
picked up at midday on Sunday, 13th September.  Speakers we were actually using 
during our clear up were from a camper van which would have had very limited 
noise. On the phone call with John Howard on Saturday, 22nd August, he mentioned 
the music and said it was “quite audible” if they stood in their garden, as are the 
point to point announcers ‐ which is why he had wanted to know what was 
happening.  He said that hadn’t been the reason for the call, they were most 
distressed about the Friday access to the site and that had been the reason for the 
call.

3) Non‐compliance with the agreed safety plan
With just 30 cars on site on the Friday, 21 August and a horse event happening close 
to the main gate we agreed with the landowners request to use this route for one 
evening only.   I’m not sure what John Howard means by agreed safety plan, but I did 
tell him we weren’t happy with that access and it wouldn’t be used regularly or 
again.  

4) Other Significant Concerns

A) Trees have not been felled on the event site specifically for our events.  We work 
closely with the landowners when working or whilst building our stages to 
ensure we always follow best practice and guidelines to ensure that the 
woodland is managed responsibly with them and according to guidelines.  The 
landowner’s team are very well informed on how to do this.  They plant kms of 
trees each year on their land and 2020 was to be the first year that The Wild 
Wood Disco donated towards their hedgerow and planting programme.  I had 
mentioned this to John Howard on the phone who told me he didn’t believe the 
landowners follow best practice work out ways to get government money for 
their gain rather than managing the land correctly.  He told me about the Parish 
Council’s plans to plant a millennial wood and I said I would be interested to hear 
about this as perhaps the money could go to a community planting programme.
  We haven’t yet used stretch tents or plastic structures in the trees.  It is my 
understanding that stretch tents do not harm trees in any way at all and if we 
hold an event with poor weather conditions, we may use them in the future.  All 
our stages are built by Matthew Gill from Acid Carpentry.  He runs the entire 
Greenpeace build at Glastonbury and would be classed as an eco‐carpenter.  He 
is very well respected in his field of work. The stages are built mostly using 
sourced from the ground materials.  Working with people like this costs a lot 
more money but it fits with our caring ethos which roots both The Wild Wood 
Rumpus and the The Wild Wood Disco Festivals.

C) As above‐ the route in through Manor Farm was a one‐time only route used 
because of so few cars were coming in and as mentioned previously will not be 
used again.

Page 42



D) We followed all government guidelines for the hospitality and tourism sector, 
going above and beyond what is expected. Please see our attached covid documents 
and security plan and printed paper which was attached to each picnic table that 
was booked per crowd and written on signage all around the site.   As an individual 
in the extreme high‐risk category (no spleen, transplant and half a lung removed) 
who shielded for over 3 months, I was scrupulous about making sure this event was 
safe as was my team.  

3.  As per 2 b) and c) 
4. A) As per 2 

B) REGARDING EXPANDING NUMBER OF EVENTS‐ We are not sure where this has 
come from.  As communication channels were both friendly and open with John 
Howard by phone and e‐mail, we would suggest he could have checked with us 
before taking things this far and advertising this false information to the local 
villagers to gain support and damage our reputation.  We are simply hoping that 
in 2021 we can do the events planned for 2020, these are the same events we 
had done in 2019 successfully with no complaints and in 2018 with 1 complaint.  
As our events have rolled over from 2020 to 2021 we have 1,000 ticket holders 
that have kindly kept their tickets for The Wild Wood Disco and 200 that have 
kindly kept them for the Rumpus, we asked ( for financial reasons) that people 
keep hold of them if they could,  and offered refunds if not.  We have over 
£30,000 invested in these events already.  This is why we are hoping that despite 
the pandemic a solution becomes available that makes these events possible.  
We are not certainly not planning more and bigger events at this time and it is 
not our intention to do so in the future.   We also had 1 wedding booked in and a 
corporate team building day on site.  Looking at the premises license we think 
that John Howard may have looked the run of event days and times of opening 
and felt that we wanted to run 3‐day events, even so our license clearly states 
we couldn’t do this.

C) Same points as above regarding using that route in.   With 4 security patrolling the 
site all night we don’t feel any illegal activity would be encouraged by this event, 
they would surely choose to do illegal activity under darkness with no security on 
site. 

Saturday 22nd August phone call with John Howard.  
 From my point of view, I felt we had spoken well, he was very concerned 

about the route used the previous day and I assure him it wouldn’t be used 
again and let him know the very small volume of traffic.  He told me at the 
beginning and end of the phone call that the route was the main concern and 
is reason for calling.  He said it would be useful for me to know the history of 
the arguments between the Vestey’s (the landowners) and the village so I 
could understand why they were partially upset and explained a little of this.

 I told him about the social distancing measures and the rules around music, 
letting him now we had made sure did not have to shout to be heard above it 

Page 43



and could conduct a normal conversation.  I told him that as it was inaudible 
at the manor farm gate in Horseheath residents wouldn’t be able to hear it.

 John Howard said that if they stood in the garden it was quite audible and 
explained that his house was the closest to the wood and not in fact in 
Horseheath but Cardinal’s Green.  I told him I would check the db. levels and 
following the call I went to check with our tech man that the limiters were in 
place and working and our security team about checks at the gates.   

 As I’d apologised about not informing him, I took the opportunity to say that I 
hoped that we might do one more day/ evening event with music in the 
woods on the 12th September.

The phone calls the week following
 We spoke for half an hour; I would say it was a very good and decent 

discussion where I listened a lot to John Howard’s concerns.  Much of this 
was the full history of the route over the bridge and the fact the landowners 
did not allow public to use it.  

 I told him I would not be able to come to the Parish council meeting in 
September.  I told him it would be most beneficial for all of us if I came in the 
new year.  Then we may be aware of what the future of events in 2021 will 
be due to the pandemic.  I said it may well not be possible we hold our 
regular 2 events the Rumpus and the Disco.  I told him that now we had run 2 
successful socially distanced events, if we couldn’t run our main ones, we 
may look to run these.  

Regarding comments on the advice and changes from the 14th September.  We ran the 
event as per government advice and could have run the same event after the 14th, it did not 
change anything for an event such as ours.  To compare our event to the thousands at 
Duxford where it is impossible to socially distance is not useful.  We had bookable tables 
with a marked border, one‐way systems, acres of space, plenty of security specifically there 
to ensure social distancing, hand gel stations and hand washing points and toilets cleaned 
throughout the day.   All social media is international!  That is the nature of it.   For a 10‐
hour day event the majority are local, and all arrive and leave the site without going into 
Horseheath.  The boutique camping company did say people could stay from the 12th but 
there was no activity on site, it was for them to try and sell some bell tent stays, this could 
have meant people from the event going into the villages for some food but we did infact 
only sell 1 bell tent that weekend and they arrived on Saturday and left Sunday morning.   
We had been trying to help the boutique company re‐coup business after a very difficult 
summer and with campsites full they felt people might want to stay over an extra night.  
They had very stringent covid guidelines on their front page.  A copy is in our covid folder.

We have spoken to many residents in Horseheath.  The only night this year people heard 
music was the 21st August, there were 40 mph winds.

We feel that it is most worrying regarding the parish council meeting and the fact that John 
Howard as a parish councillor has a duty to speak for the community.    The Agenda for their 
meetings is normally published around 1 week prior to the meeting.  From the week before 
the meeting and until now, when you click on the Agenda on the website it says, “not 
found”.  The Parish Council are also supposed to use their notice board in the middle of the 

Page 44



village to put the agenda of the next meeting on and the minutes once the meeting is 
complete.  Although they have opened this notice board to put in the poster “Wildlife or 
Disco” (as they have all around the village and surrounding area), they have not put an 
agenda or minutes in since August.  Please see attached photo showing August minutes and 
Agenda.  Therefore, how could anyone in the community with thoughts and comments or 
indeed us know that the meeting was to include discussions about events at Horseheath.  
The minutes have still not been published, so we do not know who was actually there as 
part of the discussion and what was said.   We feel that it is the job of the Parish Council to 
speak for the community, but that John Howard has used his new position as chair to make 
this opposition and is doing so in a very underhand manner.  After many e‐mails and 
facebook messages, we do not believe he is speaking for the community and the community 
have shown us tremendous support which we are very grateful for and they seem very 
happy that these events are happening.  We believe any opposition for the events is now 
based on lies and exaggeration and not valid anyway due to the campaign he led in 
Horseheath and surrounding villages (see posters and e‐mails attached).  We also feel that 
as a company running such events it is important, we have an honest and good relationship 
with the local community that he has seriously jeopardised with slander and libel.

Regarding the last paragraph about the illegal rave.  I called Lucy Thompson as the officer of 
our SAG to tell her of a rumour heard at the event of an illegal rave in a wood in the area.  I 
felt it was my duty to report this.  I went myself and looked for equipment on the Friday and 
Saturday and tried to talk to people in Haverhill to find out information to do my best duty 
as a citizen.  Illegal raves are becoming more common due to lack of events, so we don’t feel 
holding ours is causing this problem.

Page 45



This page is left blank intentionally.



John Howard‐ activity and contact

14th September Parish Council Meeting

No agenda published on website or village noticeboard before meeting.   The agenda is still 
not available on the website or the parish council noticeboard now.  No minutes published 
in either location either.  The notice board has been opened recently to include one of their 
posters “Wildlife or Disco”

2nd October 2020

Chair of Horseheath Parish Council starts campaign in Horseheath and surrounding villages 
to gain letters and signatures for his objection.

3rd October

At least 7 large posters are placed around Horseheath “Wildlife or Disco”
Posters are also reported to me from Bartlow, Cardinal’s Green and West Wickham

4th October‐ Wildlife or Disco poster appears on Horseheath community facebook page.  
Please see attached sheet for locals comments. 

4th October – door to door knocking with posters being put through everyone’s door.  One 
senior lady the man tries to badger her into writing a letter

4th October e‐mail arrives to everyone in Horseheath and surrounding villages.  Surely it is 
their duty to ensure they inform the community of the correct information.

Dear friends,
 
You may have recently received a letter from South Cambridgeshire Council entitled 'Review of Premises Licence' and 
wondered what it had to do with you and not really given it a second thought. The review has been called in relation to a 
complaint raised by Horseheath Parish Council.
 
 The license provides for  rock festivals to be held in Crofts wood, behind the race course. You may have heard some of 
the music from  the festivals, held controversially through the summer, however next year it is planned to hold 3, 3 day 
festivals for 10,000 festival goers - in the wood!
 
Whilst no one objects to the odd festival in the open, as long as the decibels are limited, to hold a festival in what is 
otherwise a very quiet, undisturbed wood, with the untold impact on the local wildlife would seem irresponsible.
 
Horseheath Parish Council are therefore concerned about the environmental damage to the wood; we believe that large 
numbers of people will bring an increase in noise and environmental pollution, litter and crime such as burglary; and the 
possibility of illegal raves on a site known for partying.
 
Furthermore we have every reason to believe that the conditions of the license - which takes no account of the location 
of the event, are likely to be breached based upon the Licensee's track record to date:
 

         There were 6 days of activity on site during this year rather than the 3 allowed by the conditions 
of the licence 

APPENDIX F

Page 47



 There has been no consultation with the Parish Council prior to events as the licence conditions
require 

 It appears there were no checks on the decibel levels at nearby residential properties
 It appears that the music continued beyond the scheduled time for completion on Sunday 13th

September
 The grounds for raising objections to the Licence under the Licensing Act are:

- Public nuisance (hours of operation, noise and vibration, light pollution and litter)
- Public safety (safety on the premises - fire safety, safe capacity and first aid)
- Crime and disorder (any crime, disorder or anti-social behaviour related to management of the premises. The act
considers the manager cannot be held responsible for the behaviour of people outside the premises. With large 
numbers who may be intoxicated, I think there is room to consider this for our localities)
- Protection of children from harm

These are clearly based on the usual licensing of urban public houses. Given the importance of biodiversity loss and 
protecting wildlife, we believe this is also an argument which will have relevance to the District Councillors on the 
Licensing Committee who will undertake the review after the consultation period.

A few discos and a festival, on the Point to Point field, is one thing. But the licensed series of events represents much 
more than that. If you feel, as the Council does, that the scale of the events and disruption to the wood and to the village 
are not in Horseheath’s long term interest, perhaps you would consider writing to the Licensing Office – the email 
address is Licensing Licensing@scambs.gov.uk – before October 27th – to add your concerns.

The attached poster, which will be put up around the village, over the next few days, summarises the Parish Council 
concerns. 

Best regards,

Terry Mundy

Sometime after 3rd October other local Parish Councils are given the misinformation 
regarding the 3 festivals and 10,000 and environmental damage and asked to send 
out to their parishioners.  This is the e-mail from Bartlow.

From: Duncan Ogilvy 
Date: 5 October 2020 at 14:12:23 BST

Subject: Wild Wood Events in Horseheath

 Hi all

I have heard from the Chairman of Horseheath Parish Council that they are very unhappy 
about the events planned at Horsheath Point to Point and Crofts Wood next year. I attach the 
official poster.

Horseheath Parish Council is concerned about the environmental damage to the wood; as 
well as noise and general disturbance. 

Neither Joe nor I have heard from anyone in Bartlow expressing concern about these events, 
which probably indicates that we don’t feel it affects us. However, because of COVID we are 
not out and about chatting as much as usual and some of you may have concerns that we have 

Page 48



not picked up. Of course, anyone is free to make their own comments to South Cambs by 27 
October as per the notice, but if anyone feels we should make representations for or against 
the licence as a Parish please let Joe or me know by, say, Sunday 11 October and we’ll act 
accordingly.
 

My contact with John Howard this year.

18/06/20

E‐mail to let him know about the charity live stream we did, not an event but “working” at a 
time when we had all been told to go back to work.  You have a copy of this through him.

22nd/08/20

I called John Howard during event after receiving a text message.  First priority and main 
concern was the access to the site from the previous evening which was no longer being 
used.  He explained the history of why this smarted and upset the locals and the battle they 
had had with the landowners.  He said he was glad to hear it was no longer being used.  He 
stated this was the main reason for the call.

I explained the event had less than 300 people over the entire weekend and apologised that 
in the quick turnaround I had forgotten to e‐mail, he accepted my apology.  

He said when him and his wife stood in his garden the music was just audible.  I said I was 
surprised as I stood in the car park at the moment and couldn’t hear it.  I told him I didn’t 
know the DB level at that time, but we had limiters on it and that we had made sure no one 
needed to raise their voice to be heard above the music as per the government guidelines.  I 
explained that the strong winds of up to 40 mph could have caused the problem the night 
before.  I also told him our security were letting us know at both gates if they could hear the 
music and it was inaudible at the Manor Farm entrance close to Horseheath, he explained 
he was the closest house in the other direction.  

Also mentioned police activity at 2am in his village, I explained the event ended sharply at 
11pm and the site was cleared of those not staying by 11.30pm at the latest.  He was 
surprised to learn the event ended so early (noise of music?)

23/08/20

E‐mail sent to me at 8.49 following on from the precious evening discussion.  

Dear Vicky
 
Just to thank you very much for calling me last night and to apologise ‐ I was cooking at the time and 
I realise I called you Becky for some reason ‐ I do apologise.
 

Page 49



It was very helpful to talk. Just to reiterate, the music is quite audible at our west end of Cardinals 
Green; this has been the case whenever you have had a disco. We also hear the announcer on the 
point to point when they have meetings. We are about 1,200m directly from Crofts Wood, so I don't 
think it is the wind that is the main factor although that obviously helps sound travel. Residents in 
Horseheath also hear the music and are about the same distance away; see the screenshot from the 
Horseheath What's On Facebook page attached.
 
Just for your further information, residents of Cardinals Green have for years walked around some of 
the field margins. The hunt , a number of other horse riders, farm vehicles and the cross country 
runners also run across the field margins. Thurlow receives stewardship payments for the field 
margins as set‐aside. There are no circular footpaths across Thurlow's land, so residents continue to 
use farm tracks and field margins connecting footpaths to walk on the south side of the A1307. The 
Estate and workers stop walkers off the footpath and tell them off, although I don't think there have 
been any prosecutions. I have previously suggested creating a permitted loop path which I think 
would help residents and preserve set aside areas, but the Estate has not been keen to engage with 
this. The Estate continues to be very forthright in admonishing residents on tracks, particularly 
anyone contemplating crossing the A1307 by their bridge ‐ even local horse riders. Therefore the 
routing of public traffic through Horseheath and over the bridge touches a nerve in the village; we 
will also write to the SAG about it.
 
The Parish Council was disappointed not to have been contacted by you as the organiser of the 
events. There has been concern about the impact of the events on the local ecology and wildlife 
amongst residents. We are not sure if you can mitigate this.
 
Given the number of events proposed I think it would be useful if you could attend a Parish Council 
meeting. We have been meeting by zoom during Covid and our next meeting is Monday 14th 
September at 7.45pm. I have copied in our Clerk so that we can hopefully arrange for you to attend 
by zoom.
 
With kind regards
 
john
 

Second e‐mail sent that day stating the police activity was poachers.
Dear Vicky

I understand from our neighbours that there were poachers out in the fields behind the 
copse last night. This was likely to be the cause of the police presence on Friday night. We 
do see them from time to time.

I would imagine the event itself, and particularly the route in through the farm being used has 
provided them with cover and that may be why we have seen this unusual level of activity. 
You might like to include this aspect in your communications with the police, Council risk 
assessments and of course Thurlow Estate.

I hope this is helpful.

With kind regards

John

Page 50



3/09/20

I e‐mailed John a reply 

Hello John,

Thanks for your correspondence, I’ve also found it helpful chatting to you on the phone, it’s good that we have 
communication channels open now.

I have a meeting with Tim Barling after the 12th and I will bring up the idea about the loop and locals using the footpath, it 
seems very strange they don’t allow this on such a busy and dangerous road and I’m sure all those in Horseheath and Linton 
that attend the events would like to be able to use it, as well as everyone else outside of these times.  We were very surprised 
to be asked to use this route and they have agreed it is unsafe and we won’t be using it again. 

As I mentioned to you I have a premises license to carry out events in the woods.  These don’t come easily and wildlife, 
sound monitoring, security, safe use of roads are all part of working with the council to get the license.  As I mentioned we 
are giving money back to the local ecology and may well route this through a different avenue than the estate. This can be 
discussed in the new year.

The second and last event this year is on the 12th September, the date that should have been The Wild Wood Disco.  This is 
called a sunset social and we have bookable tables, street food and bars and music at the top of the woods.  We are saying 
under 300 people, when we did this before we had less than 200 on the Saturday and we expect it to be about the same.  The 
music is 1pm - 11pm.  We are using the main entrance and exit to the site and expect to have around 100 cars only.  These 
events have been put on last minute after discussions with the council to try and get a tiny bit of revenue in during these very 
difficult times for anyone working in events.  The last event was turned around in 3 weeks and this in 2 so we apologise for 
not letting you know in advance.  I was very surprised the music impacted you at all and understand well why the route in 
would have concerned residents but with such few people we didn’t feel it would cause issues.

I will plan to come to a parish council meeting in the new year to answer your questions.  We speak with a lot of residents 
who are very supportive of the events too and give us lots of personal feedback.  

Speak soon,

Vicky 

3/09//20

Dear Vicky
 
Thanks for your helpful email. As you say it is good to have a good channel of communication. 
 
The Parish Council has a track record of doing its best for biodiversity – we currently have a grant 
application in for increasing wildflowers along the verges and in public spaces and have an ongoing 
pollinator action plan for which we also received grant funding. We have recently been looking in to 
developing an area of native woodland. Twenty years ago, Horseheath raised a considerable sum of 
money to create a new wood – the “Millenium Wood”. This area was eventually developed between 
Castle Camps and Camps End, and is now a Woodland Trust site. It’s a lovely area to wander round 
and is used by residents from several local villages.
 
We’d be pleased to talk more broadly with you in the New Year. We had been working on a 
Neighbourhood Plan although the future of this has been thrown in to doubt by the government’s 
White Paper on planning reforms. So while I greatly appreciate the sentiment and help, don’t worry 
about raising footpaths with Tim Barling – we will need to meet him in due course to follow up on 
whatever happens after neighbourhood plans.
 

Page 51



By copy of this email I will ask John Miles to put the details of your event on 12th September on the 
local social media groups and our website; as we said it is really helpful for residents to know what is 
going on.

I look forward to talking further in due course and thank you again for making time to talk.

With best wishes

john

.

03/09/20

Thanks John,

I’d be keen to be involved with developing the woodland with the woodland trust, that sounds perfect for our family festival, 
The Wild Wood Rumpus and the larger The Wild Wood Disco.  Look forward to finding out more about that.

Speak soon,

Vicky 

I can’t remember the date, but we had a half hour positive phone call prior to the 12th 
discussing woodland events.  I have never mentioned wanting to do 3, 3 day festivals for 
3,000 , I mentioned as we may not be allowed to do the kind of events we normally run next 
year due to Covid that these socially distanced drink evenings might be more like the kind of 
events we have to put on.  I explained again it was most sensible to meet in the new year 
when we had a better idea of what events would be possible in 2021.  He at no point told 
me that the agenda of the next meeting would include the premises license.

25/09/20

Sent an E‐mail with documents attached disputing the license. 

Facebook comments after I had posted 4 days later on their poster.

8th October I decide to write a post on their post on the facebook page for 
Horseheath.  I was finding it increasingly diificult to know they were damaging my 
business and spreading lies.  Vicky Fenton

Hello, I'm Vicky and I am the organiser of events in the Wild Wood. Firstly we have no plans to organise 3, 3 day 
festivals next year and our license does not allow that and it is not something we want to do. There are not 
going to be 10,000 people around next summer! We have never cleared trees or purposefully upset wildlife and 
would consider ourselves a company that is incredibly ecology minded, putting that before profit. We are decent 
people running a tiny company and have absolutely nothing to hide. if you'd like to find out the actual facts 
please e-mail vicky@thewildwooddisco.com or we can come to the pub to talk to people in a socially distanced 
way and answer any questions you have.

Page 52



We have also been to this festival only living 2 miles away with our young family and it’s run absolutely 
brilliantly and extremely considerately to its environment. I have lived in the area for my whole Life and think 
it’s sad people can’t get the facts and talk face to face before they start scaremongering and actually deal with 
their issues as a community working together. 

9

o Like
o · 

Reply

o · 4d

I have taken my children to the kids event in the past. It is a beautiful spot, the wood is celebrated by the people 
who run the festival not destroyed. It is the most ethical & eco friendly event I’ve been to. My children learnt all 
about the trees, leaves, & folk stories certainly something that in my opinion should be encouraged 

4

o Like
o · 

Reply

o · 5d

Author

Horseheath Community

I don't know why my comments come under "Horseheath Community" but as 

 I'm saying it's a brilliant little outdoor event. 

“Were you disturbed by the noise from the Wildwood disco this summer?” Errrrrrr no because the music was off 
at 11.00pm and it was on twice.

I have been to the event a few times and the organisers are amazing.There is no bottled water to reduce plastic 
consumption , this could be a quick buck but they don’t sell it!(people are encouraged to bring their own 
reusable bottles and fill them up from the tanks) 

The crew also sweep the site picking up every last bit of rubbish and cigarette butts .This poster is complete 
defamatory rubbish.To the sad individual on the smear campaign first of all do some research and after that I 
can highly recommend getting a life!!

o Like
o · 

Page 53



Reply

o · 3d

Author

Horseheath Community

I took my children, friends and family a few years ago. It's was beautifully done, and well organised.

o Love
o · 

Reply

o ·

I just can’t believe that local snobs have got together and tried to ruin a companies reputation rather than stop 
and think about what good they do to bring local communities together. 

Please stop and think about what impact this could have on a company trying to do good things for people 
especially In these times. I for one give the organisers of the wild wood company my full support for everything 
they do and will help them in anyway I can. What a shameful thing for the Horseheath Community to do ! 

I went to the Wildwood Disco last year and it was just awesome, people just having fun and no damage or 
irresponsible behaviour was witnessed by myself. One of the best nights I have ever had, bringing in the finest 
DJs on the planet. Thankyou Wildwood at nearly 50 years old you took me back 30 odd years and I loved every 

minute of it. 

Seriously?? Have you been to the woods at any point and seen for yourselves? I’ve been to the point to point 
course regularly since I was 11 years old with pony club, I’m now 39, and NO trees have been cleared in the 
woods where the festivals are held. And as someone who has helped at the events since the first year I can 
assure anyone who hasn’t been there that the clear up operation is meticulous and thorough. The small local 
company who holds these events follow the conditions of their licence to the last letter, they are very proud of 
what they do and rightly so. Please stop spreading lies in order to whip up opposition to support your objections 
to a legally run local event that has many many loyal local supporters. 

good luck to them with their events i say 

3

o Like

Page 54



I am pretty sure these defamatory statements amount to libel so would suggest the author(s) (Horseheath 
Parish Council?) retract the statements and issue a public apology to the organisers

I have been to this a few times and I have to say it's the most nature-friendly little festival going! All those 
involved respect the natural habitat and would never dream of destroying it! Please stop scaremongering 
people with false facts and liste… 

See More

What a truly awful thing to write about the festival that tried so hard this year, and got absolutely everything 
right, and exceeded expectations.

Absolute pure lies, and made up allegations. 

Admin - are you really going to leave this one up, without … 

See More

I am sure the Cardinals Green Mafia will object 

o Like
o · 

Reply

o · 4d



I am sure the Cardinals Green Mafia will object 

o Like
o · 

Reply

Page 55



o · 4d

E-mail I received from a resident of Bartlow on the e-mail list;

11th October 

 To be honest don’t think people here are remotely fussed!  There certainly will be no 
representation to South Cambs from Bartlow!

Best of luck with this.   It’s just so frustrating when small minded people with delusions of 
power get involved in things.   

Hope you manage to have wonderful successful events next year and that Covid will not 
interfere as it has with everything this year.   

Kind regards. 
Mollie

Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



No current agenda for the previous meeting or minutes, notice board has been 
opened to put in poster.

Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Message from Horseheath Parish Council on webstie when click on 
Agenda both before and after parish council meeting, the minutes have 
still not appeared:

Page 65



Page 66



Most recently the landowners have let me know that on the weekend of the 
15th / 16th October there was a running event on the racecourse.  John Howard 
is now complaining to them about that.  It is really felt by myself and the 
landowners that John is using his recent position as chair of the council to 
cause as much trouble as possible for the Vestey family by objecting to 
everything they do on their land.  

Page 67



This page is left blank intentionally.



APPENDIX G

Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



This page is left blank intentionally.



HK Security & Event Services LTD 

Woodfield Cottage, The Street, Mortimer, Reading RG7 3DW 

T:  

Company Reg No 11770494 VAT Reg No 332688681 

HK Security Assessment and Report for Wild Wood Events Ltd. 

HK Security were asked to provide General security services combined with the oversight 

of traffic, general welfare and crowd management to the Spaced Out Weekend and 

Sunset Socials by Wild Wood Events Ltd. 

The company Managing Director, Harry Kay attended the site on both occasions before 

each of the Wild Wood events in August and September respectively. Here he met with 

the event organiser to risk assess the site and advise on security/health and safety 

measures given the additional requirements concerning Covid19. 

This assessment was carried out in conjunction with the licence conditions and guidelines 

presented to him by the organiser, Terms and Conditions of which both parties would 

naturally be happy to conform with. 

1.Traffic Management

Upon entry to the site via the suggested routes, all persons and vehicles were greeted by 

a safety steward. They were given instructions on how to proceed to the event once their 

vehicle had been parked up. In the event of customers using the camping facilities these 

individuals were given additional instructions on how and where to unload equipment. At 

both events traffic was only allowed to enter the site at one single entry point to avoid 

congestion and any unnecessary situations where vehicles may cross and have to pass 

each other at any point by leaving the gravel road and entering the grassland, therefore 

preventing any damage to the Greenland. In the case of any vehicle having to leave at 

the same time that another vehicle was entering, this vehicle was held at a designated 

hold point while the other was allowed to pass. 

Any vehicles needing to unload were allowed to drive to a designated drop off point 

before returning their vehicle to the appointed parking area to avoid any risk of vehicles 

coming into contact with pedestrians already on site as the event location and camping 

area run adjacent to each other. 

Finally, any local taxis dropping persons off were allowed to drive to the same designated 

drop off point before being marshalled off site if required. The same applied at the end of 

the event where persons awaiting pick up and taxis collecting were marshalled to and 

from the pick-up point. 

2.Event Entry and Site Layout.

Upon entering the event site, two temporary mobile work stations were erected, the first 

being for event staff and the second for security. In between the work stations was 

APPENDIX H

Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



This page is left blank intentionally.



APPENDIX I

P
age 163



P
age 164



P
age 165



P
age 166



APPENDIX J

P
age 167



P
age 168



P
age 169



T
his page is left blank intentionally.



APPENDIX K

P
age 171



P
age 172



P
age 173



P
age 174



P
age 175



P
age 176



P
age 177



P
age 178



P
age 179



P
age 180



P
age 181



P
age 182



P
age 183



P
age 184



P
age 185



P
age 186



P
age 187



P
age 188



P
age 189



T
his page is left blank intentionally.



APPENDIX L

P
age 191



P
age 192



P
age 193



P
age 194



P
age 195



P
age 196



P
age 197



P
age 198



APPENDIX M

Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



This page is left blank intentionally.



APPENDIX N

Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



APPENDIX O

Page 207



Page 208



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

Representations - Objections and Support List - 28 October 2020 

Wildwood Events Ltd - Premises Licence Review 

Number 1 

I have recently received a letter from South Cambridgeshire Council entitled 'Review 

of Premises. 

The license provides for  rock festivals to be held in Croftswood, behind the race 

course. Next year it is planned to hold 3, 3 day festivals for 10,000 festival goers - in 

the wood! 

Whilst no one objects to the odd festival in the open, as long as the decibels are limited, 

to hold a festival in what is otherwise a very quiet, undisturbed wood, with the untold 

impact on the local wildlife is irresponsible irresponsible. 

I as a resident of Horseheath, am therefore concerned about the environmental 

damage to the wood; I believe that large numbers of people will bring an increase in 

noise and environmental pollution, litter and crime such as burglary; and the possibility 

of illegal raves on a site known for partying. Increased traffic to an already dangerous 

turning on the 1307. 

Furthermore we have every reason to believe that the conditions of the license - which 

takes no account of the location of the event, are likely to be breached based upon 

the Licensee's track record to date: 

There were 6 days of activity on site during this year rather than the 3 allowed by the 

conditions of the licence  

• There has been no consultation with the Parish Council prior to events as the

licence conditions require

• It appears there were no checks on the decibel levels at nearby residential

properties

• It appears that the music continued beyond the scheduled time for completion

on Sunday 13th September

  The grounds for raising objections to the Licence under the Licensing Act are: 

- Public nuisance (hours of operation, noise and vibration, light pollution and litter)

- Public safety (safety on the premises - fire safety, safe capacity and first aid)

APPENDIX P

Page 209



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

- Crime and disorder (any crime, disorder or anti-social behaviour related to 

management of the premises. The act considers the manager cannot be held 

responsible for the behaviour of people outside the premises. With large numbers who 

may be intoxicated, I think there is room to consider this for our localities) 

 

- Protection of children from harm 

  

These are clearly based on the usual licensing of urban public houses. Given the 

importance of biodiversity loss and protecting wildlife, I believe this is also an argument 

which will have relevance to the District Councillors on the Licensing Committee who 

will undertake the review after the consultation period. 

Please keep my email on file and please keep me informed. 

  

 

Number 2 

We note that HORSEHEATH PARISH COUNCIL has, on the 29 September 2020, 

applied to South Cambs District Council as the Licensing Authority for a Premises 

Licence review for Wild Wood Events Ltd. In considering this review we should be 

grateful if you would note that - 

 

Context - Crofts Wood is between 1400 and 1600 metres from Horseheath and 

Cardinal's Green, sleepy hamlets in an area of best landscape. This matters because 

the impact of the observed revellings and the pressure of numerous visitors has 

become a nuisance in the context of this location. ("what would be a nuisance in 

Belgravia Square may not necessarily be so in Bermondsey."  Sturges v Bridgman 

(1879) LR 11 Ch D 852) 

 

• Public nuisance. Music at high volume (It always is - operators of high output 

equipment like to show off) played into the night and the arrival of huge crowds 

from far and wide have an unacceptable impact on the village, our dwelling and 

wildlife in Crofts Wood and its environs. 

 

• Safety is a concern. If any future access to the site is to be via the A1307 it will 

need a high level of management, as seen ahead of Point to Point meetings, to 

avoid road traffic accidents.  In any event, access to Crofts Wood is limited. 

Firefighters and other Emergency Services would have problems if an 

emergency arose. Covid-19 regulations seem to have been breached already. 

 

• Any crime, disorder or anti-social behaviour which may develop in alcohol 

fuelled groups would be difficult or impossible for management to control. 

Outside Crofts Wood management has no responsibility. It is likely that 

poachers etc. will take advantage of the distraction (cover) of a noisy event. It 

Page 210



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

is, perhaps, no coincidence that an event and the rumour of an illegal rave both 

coincided with police presence in Cardinal's Green.  

 

It seems that the company has breached its existing licence, if this is the case the 

licence should be rescinded and not renewed. In our view Crofts Wood is not an 

acceptable venue for Wild Wood Events Ltd and its expansion plans. 

 

Please rescind the licence. 

 

 

Number 3 

We would like to object to any future permissions being granted due to both noise and 

other issues during the previous events. 

 

Re the noise levels- we could hear the music clearly, until 4am, which I suspect is way 

beyond the granted permissions (?) despite being inside our house with windows 

closed. We live in the centre of Horseheath, but during the early evening I was out on 

a bicycle in Withersfield, and could still hear it clearly! 

 

This is particularly unpleasant in hot summer weather having to keep windows closed 

day and night- one of us works shifts for an airline and it’s impossible to sleep with 

thumping dance music a constant . 

 

When the rock festival was held at Sir Arthur Marshall’s former estate, we had no issue 

with noise at all. We assume this is due to the location being in a dip. The Wildwood 

location is one of the highest points in the area so the sound travels, especially if the 

weather is breezy. 

 

This is not a one off occurrence, it has been the case at all the events held so far. 

Another issue which has happened in relation to these events is to us much more 

unpleasant- By Horseheath Cricket club is a dead end section of Howard’s Lane- Each 

time an event has been held there has been the odd car parked there for the events 

duration, presumably so the event can be accessed without tickets via the footpath 

from White Chimneys to the venue site. This year, there were two cars left there, and 

when they departed, they left large amounts of litter, including human excrement, 

soiled toilet paper, and a syringe/needle. This is simply not acceptable.  

 

Despite the event usually being accessed by the point to point course entrance from 

A1307, this year the signs led through Manor farm in the village. There was a huge 

increase in village traffic, and lost people driving down odd places in the village looking 

for the site. We had one car drive into our horse paddock entrance in west Wickham 

road. 

 

Page 211



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

How the event was ever allowed to go ahead this year during a pandemic is totally 

beyond belief - A resident that attended, showed us some photographs, and there was 

certainly no social distancing going on ! 

 

While we wish the event organisers well with their venture, we have tolerated the total 

disregard for their licence restrictions and noise levels for too long. They have had the 

chance to run this event in a responsible manner , but having shown zero respect to 

the local environment we feel we have to object in the strongest possible terms, 

especially to any expansion. This is simply not the correct location for the event.  

 

 

Number 4 

I am writing regarding the licence held by Wild Wood Events Ltd, which I understand 

is currently under review. 

 

Wild Wood Events Ltd (WWE) has knowingly breached the terms of this licence which 

foresees a maximum of three one day events a year. This year they have held events 

over a total of at least six days. By breaching the terms of their licence, I expect that 

they have also invalidated their insurance, thereby raising an important public safety 

risk, by staging events without valid insurance. 

 

WWE's plans for 2021 already include holding three festivals of three days each and 

a wild wood family weekend. I believe they also hope to hold parties and weddings. 

These plans go well beyond the three one day events foreseen in the current licence, 

and amount to a wanton disregard for licencing laws. 

 

This fits a general pattern of lack of repect either for rules or for cooperation with the 

local community. During the weekend of 12-13th September, a festival went ahead 

despite Government advice to suspend public events as COVID-19 rates were 

increasing. The music, which was easily heard in Cardinal's Green continued well 

beyond the 2am limit in the licence, despite assurances that the music would not 

disturb the local community and that the event would finish within the licenced hours, 

i.e. be over by 2am. 

 

 

Number 5 

I would like to express my concerns as a resident of Horseheath village of the 

application for a Premises Licence review in the name of Wild Wood Events Ltd - 

SCDCPL0515, as based on the conduct this year I do not feel the applicant is 

considering the best interests of the village. 

 

Horseheath is a small, quiet, rural community. 

 

Page 212



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

The events which were held this year appeared to show 6 days of activity on site rather 

than the 3 allowed by the conditions of the licence. 

 

There does not appear to have been any consultation with the Parish Council prior to 

the events, as I understand the licence conditions require.  

 

There does not appear to have been any checks on the decibel levels at nearby 

residential properties. We and our young children experienced disruption to our sleep 

during the events held this year. 

 

It appears that the music continued beyond the scheduled time for completion on 

Sunday 13th September. 

The grounds with which I would like to raise objections to the Licence under the 

Licensing Act are: 

 

- Public nuisance  

- Public safety  

- Crime and disorder (of which we have already experienced an increase in 

recent months with multiple vehicle thefts from properties in the village) 

- Protection of our children from harm 

 

In addition to the above there does not appear to be any consideration of the 

importance of biodiversity loss and protecting wildlife.  

 

As a resident of the village I am concerned that the scale of the events and disruption 

to the wood and to the village are not in the long-term interest of Horseheath village 

or it's resident families. 

 

 

Number 6 

I wish to record my objection to this application.  

 

The terms of the current licence have been breached on a Number of occasions, 

suggesting disregard for permitted event levels.  

 

The site is served by access points that have proved inadequate for the historic Point 

to Point meetings. This has caused organisers to redirect the egress of east bound 

traffic through the village. The envisaged future volumes of traffic are likely to force 

large numbers of vehicles to leave the site at around the same time and under current 

Covid regulations this is likely to be all at the same curfew times.  

 

The planned format is not dissimilar to the Secret Garden Festival at Abbots Ripton 

which has proved impossible for Private Security Companies to control and Police 

have been called on many occasions. The latest applications at Abbots Ripton have 

Page 213



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

been refused on the basis of Lack of Organiser control. The previous events at 

Croftswood have deteriorated in to the same debacle with unauthorised attendance.  

In the absence of adequate traffic control, Security nor Organisational input I believe 

future events should not be permitted. 

 

 

Number 7 

I am writing an email of concern regarding the wildwood events that are planned for 

the future in Horseheath. 

 

I am concerned that these events seem to be expanding and becoming a more 

frequent planned event starting from a one weekend event to the consideration of 

events almost every weekend during the spring and summer. 

 

These events are being advertised on Facebook and have sven been described as 

"raves" which are attracting people from all over the country.  

 

These were initially thought to be local events encouraging local communities to gather 

but they aren't being advertised in the actual village but nationally. 

 

The event size also is increasing causing grave concern on hundreds, even thousands 

of people wandering all over the local area.  

 

Considering the local community have been approached on many a occasion in why 

we are walking in that area that the local property owner is happy to have hoards 

walking, camping, drinking, and using the woidded areas as toilet facilities is 

astounding.  

 

I have lived in Cardinaks Green for 21 years and have enjoyed the rural aspect, but 

with amenities close by. We have a local pub and village hall which are struggling as 

it us to then have to compete with other events. 

 

I would be concerned about crime rates increasing, coming across multiple groups of 

people whilst walking or running around that area, concerns about our property, and 

the noise levels (which were heard the whole weekend on the last event in september)  

 

I really feel these events should be carefully considered and ideally not allowed.  

 

 

Number 8 

I am writing to express my concern at the way in which Wild Wood Events was licensed 

without any reference to the Parishioners of Horseheath or any notification of events 

taking place. 

 

Page 214



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

The first that the Parish knew of the event on the 21st /23rd August was when traffic 

for the event was directed through Horseheath, followed by excessive noise. 

 

Public Safety: 

 

I understand that the traffic flow  through the village on the 21st/23rd August was 

contrary to that of the  approved safety plan. 

 

The event that took place on the 12th/13th September was the day before tighter 

restrictions were due to be imposed by the UK Government which limited gatherings 

to a maximum of 30 people and was contrary to Government advice to behave in a 

sensible way over that weekend - 300 people gathering for an event where alcohol is 

free flowing and where, it was reported, that  social distancing was not observed, is 

not to my mind, acting responsibly and represents a threat to public safety. 

 

Public Nuisance: 

 

Horseheath is situated  700 metres down wind ( prevailing wind is south westerly) of 

Croftswood, where the events have taken place and the noise levels were excessive, 

with music ( bass)  being heard  in most rooms of my house  until past 11PM. 

 

There was no notification of the events taking place and so we were unaware of the 

source of the music - previously when Horseheath Lodge held music festivals we all 

received prior notice, through our letter boxes, detailing start and finish times so we 

had some confidence in what appeared to be a well organised event, where the music 

was muted  

 

It is also understood that the number of events exceeded those for which a license 

had been granted and it is assumed that all non licensed events constitute a rave?! 

 

License Conditions: 

The standard criteria against which a license is granted  appears to be inappropriate 

for such an event where the bounds of the licensed premises are not defined - for 

instance the licensee is not responsible for activities undertaken outside of the 

licensed premises - where are the bounds of the licensed premises in the case of the 

wood? 

Surely the impact on wild life should also be considered when an event is organised 

for a wood? After all we are daily being advised that the UK is the most wildlife depleted 

country in Europe and SCDC are very keen to display their 'green credentials'. 

What impact will 100s of people milling around an otherwise wildwood, with music 

being pumped out at 90 to 100 decibels, have on that wild life population that called 

the wood home - it will prove to be yet another area from which they are displaced. 

Page 215



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

There appears to be a lack of joining up of the dots from SCDC, between their publicly 

espoused values and those that they practice. 

 

 

Number 9 

I am writing in support of the Wild Wood Disco which is held at Horseheath point to 

point course. I live in Suffolk and have attended the disco for the last 3 years. I have 

always found it to be extremely well organised.  

 

I have taken my three children to the kids version which they all loved. They learnt all 

about the ancient woodland through stories, and were taught the names & ages of the 

trees. In today’s hectic society it was a wonderful way for them to connect with nature. 

 

The way the organisers have built the stages amongst the trees is beautiful the woods 

are well cared for & add to the magic of the festival. I’ve never seen any litter, everyone 

is very respectful of the beautiful setting. The best bit about the festival is the numbers, 

the organisers have kept it under 3000 rather than just trying to make as much money 

as possible it really is a lovely small, safe place to be for adults & children. 

 

I was amazed to read the comments from a parish councillor being negative about the 

festival, I presume they haven’t attended the festival as his comments couldn’t be 

further from the truth. The friends I know who live in the local area are proud to have 

such a wonderful event on their doorstep. 

 

I really hope the organisers are granted their licence & the festival will be back next 

year. 

 

 

Number 10 

As a resident of Little Abington, Cambs, and patron of The Wildwood Disco since its 

inception I would like to wholeheartedly lend my support for this business and the 

events it runs on this site. I have seen the unpleasant, aggressive and ultimately false 

notices posted in the local area and am appalled at such defamation.  

 

At the forefront of every event the license holder runs, whether it be a private party, 

disco or childrens’ camping and events weekend, is the wood itself. The clue is in the 

name – The WILD WOOD Disco/Rumpus!  

 

It is absolutely vital to the organisers that the wood is cared for and enjoyed safely and 

mindfully by all who attend. Initiatives such as no plastic bottles for water, instead 

requiring visitors to bring a refillable bottle to fill from water tanks; meticulous care 

taken to ensure no glass is brought on site; thorough clean ups after every event; no 

plastic cups for drinks but bring your own or purchase a refillable one on site. Stages 

Page 216



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

and bars are constructed from locally sourced materials – mainly wood – and are 

barely noticeable as they blend in with their surroundings. 

 

These events are a positive addition economically and culturally to this area and must 

be allowed to continue. 

 

 

Number 11 

Like most people in the village, we did not know that this was going to be a regular 

event, or that they had a licence. 

 

The last event was an unpleasant surprise, as we had no idea that such an event could 

take place during the coronavirus crisis. 

 

How could that be responsible behaviour, or even legal? 

 

It was so loud that we could hear the music clearly in every room of our house, even 

with all the windows and doors closed. It lasted until after 11 pm. 

 

Previous events have continued well after midnight, and all have been extremely loud 

We also noted that the event traffic was routed through Manor Farm, in the centre of 

Horseheath, not from the declared entrance on the dual carriageway towards Linton. 

These events are taking place very much closer to the village of Horseheath, not Linton 

as described. 

 

In view of the well-known serious accident history on this section of the A1307, it is 

extremely dangerous to permit further large-scale events accessed from this road. 

According to the Ordnance Survey map the distance from Croftswood to Horseheath 

village is only 700 metres, or less than half a mile. 

 

On their website the organisers have described the events like this: 

"Imagine a classic free party from the early 90s. You'll probably imagine a farm, 

miles from the nearest neighbours" 

Clearly, 700 metres is not "miles", it is 0.43 of a mile. 

 

Since young children need to go to bed from about 7 pm, and adults from about 10.30 

it is simply not reasonable to inflict this level of noise and disturbance on the people of 

the village. 

 

We sometimes have our young grandchildren to stay at weekends, and it would clearly 

be impossible to get them settled down to sleep during one of the events. 

 

Page 217



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

Another relevant factor is that the prevailing wind is from the south-west, which means 

that the sound will nearly always be blown directly across the village. This makes a 

big difference to the volume of sound observed in the village. 

 

Croftswood is also on higher ground than most of the surrounding land and this 

elevation is another factor that contributes to the sound travelling further. 

 

Holding such an event in what is usually a very quiet wood will obviously be a disaster 

for the wildlife living there. Birds that are both nesting and roosting in the wood will be 

driven out. The young ones that cannot fly will be left to die and many roosting birds 

will not be able to find their way to a safe alternative, especially in the dark. Many of 

them will die as a direct result. 

 

We often see Red Kites, Kestrels and Buzzards flying in this area and there are large 

populations of many smaller species. 

 

The same disastrous disruption will be inflicted on all mammal species living in the 

wood. These include deer, badgers and bats.  

 

In addition to this, the wildlife is also to be exposed to a laser and strobe light show, 

which will certainly cause them to panic and attempt to flee in the dark, with disastrous 

consequences. 

 

Presumably the electricity needed to power these events is provided by Diesel 

generators, with all the well-known health risks from their exhaust emissions. Again, 

due to the prevailing wind these pollutants will be blown straight over the village. 

 

We are concerned that the organisers have exceeded the number of events that they 

were permitted in their licence, and have not communicated with the Parish Council 

as required. 

 

Unlicensed events are no different to an illegal rave, and therefore the licence holders 

have shown themselves to be unsuitable for any continuation of that licence. 

The organiser’s proposal to hold three, three day festivals for 10,000 people each time 

in 2021, lasting until 2am, is completely unacceptable to Horseheath villagers, for all 

the reasons stated above. 

 

Residents are asking why they were not given any representation on this matter before 

it started? Only the Parish Council have given any support, and it seems difficult for 

them to be heard against the big money interests. 

 

All the residents of Horseheath chose to live in a small quiet village, and should not 

have to suffer the outrageous level of noise and disruption that we have been forced 

to endure from these events. 

Page 218



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

 

Number 12 

Please find below a personal statement from myself regarding the Wildwood Disco 

team.  

 

A month or so prior to our first event deployment at Horseheath Racecourse, event 

organiser Vicky Fenton and production manager Elissa Gold requested our services 

to be deployed at the Sunset Socials on Friday the 21st and Saturday 22nd of August.  

 

I deemed it suitable to then conduct a site visit personally to understand Wildwood 

Events LTDs needs for their event and deploy security operatives and social 

distancing Stewards appropriately. Due to the current pandemic, HK Security and 

Event Services LTDs management team felt it best that we accommodate the event 

with a high level of support from myself and the management team to ensure we could 

assist the best we could given the additional regulations, safety and infection control 

measures put in place.  

 

It was on the site visit, roughly two weeks before the event where I met Vicky Fenton 

and Elissa Gold.  

 

I was very impressed with their knowledge of the site and the event plan. As an 

operative with over eight years of "on the ground" experience, running security teams 

or consulting on crowd management and safety procedure at large scale events 

(50,000+ capacity) festivals, and sporting events, I was filled with confidence of the 

Wildwood teams planning and execution.  

 

Vicky and Elissa are a pleasure to work with, friendly, capable, with safety of the 

customers and impact on the local area as one of their highest concerns.  

 

As a consultant, I am often faced with individuals who wish to plan an event but with 

very little knowledge of true health and safety or crowd management measures. This 

was NOT the case with either Vicky or Elissa. Despite the low numbers of customers 

capped at the event, they still looked into procedure and ELT Meetings with the 

seriousness I would expect from a much larger event. Their experience running events 

of a much larger scale was clear.  

 

Vicky was very keen to impart to me the importance of reducing the impact of the event 

onto the local area. We extensively agreed on checks that myself and my team could 

take part in, in order to ensure that guidelines and rules were adhered to, this included 

(but not limited to) patrolling the perimeter of the entire site to ensure volume levels 

were not of a disturbance to the local residents.  

 

Page 219



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

It is an absolute pleasure to work with both Vicky and Elissa, they make a competent, 

productive and pragmatic event team that I was both proud to support and be a part 

of, as I deployed myself to both their spaced out and sunset social weekends.  

 

I sincerely look forward to working with Wildwood Events LTD in the future, they are a 

credit to the local community and I'm happy to provide both the team and yourselves 

with any additional information or support you may need. 

 

 

Number 13 

I thought I would respond to the notices in Horseheath regarding The Wildwood Disco 

/ Spaced Out events  

 

I have been to many events at Horseheath over the past 3 or 4 years as both an 

individual paying ticket holder, together with my partner and also as a volunteer on 

several occasions.  

 

For background, I am a 50 year old Group Risk Manager working in The City of London 

for a number of limited companies and limited liability partnerships within a multi family 

office. I live in Cambridge.  

 

I have over the last 3 - 4 years found The Wildwood Disco / Space Out to be very 

professionally run, with both the environment and the health and safety of the ticket 

holders as the top priorities. The Culture of the festival stems from the actions of the 

event leadership.  

 

The people going to these events are not all young people. Quiet the opposite I would 

say the average age is between 40 and 50 years old, mature, respectful kind and 

caring. As a volunteer I have had nothing but good interactions with hundreds of 

people during my shifts. Even as Covid shut everything else down this years two 

events were peaceful, fun, and respectful events.  

 

At a time of heightened anxiety and stress for many people because of covid19 and 

the impacts of lockdown, the ability to listen to great music in a safe and socially 

distanced environment was in itself beautiful. In addition the caring way the crowd 

respected each other and the professional way the event was managed from arrival, 

parking, camping and the socially distanced tables.  

 

I have been to many book, film and music festivals in my 50 years on this planet as a 

ticket holder and volunteer. I can say that the production and event management team 

behind The Wildwood Disco and Space Out are the best and most professional, 

community minded group of indiviuals in the UK that I have had the pleasure to work 

with. 

 

Page 220



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

I am already looking forward to volunteering again next year as this is a festival that 

truely cares. 

 

 

Number 14 

I am extremely surprised to hear of the accusations from John Howard that rules were 

not being adhered to at the Wild Wood Disco Event this summer. Quite frankly, it is 

simply untrue. 

 

Given the restrictions we have all faced over the majority of this year, I was extremely 

excited that Vicky and the team had decided to host the event on a much smaller scale 

this year. 

 

If I’m totally honest I myself was sceptical of how this setting would work in practice, 

however the organiser far exceeded my expectations in providing us with a safe 

environment to enjoy ourselves in. 

 

I live within half an hour of the festival and have attended for the last 4 years so as you 

can imagine I can draw some pretty realistic comparisons that prove how the organiser 

took on board the advice and regulations of the higher authorities. These are as 

follows: 

 

1.) There was one stage playing music to a far quieter level than usual. People 

with a few drinks in their system often push for it to be turned up but were told no on 

multiple occasions. 

 

2.) I attended with 5 other friends and we sat on our table of 6 for the entire evening 

except when going to get a drink/food. In my view, everybody was adhering to this (a 

few even wearing masks despite it being outside). There are always one or two who 

refrain to listen to the rules but it was noticeable that security were quick to jump upon 

this (proving the seriousness of wanting to get this right)  

 

3.) Interestingly, I have heard that we’re complaints of people visiting the event 

from afar. I honestly cannot say hand on my heart have I ever walked into an event 

like this and recognised so many people from previous years instantaneously. These 

are clearly local people who were delighted to be able to enjoy themselves again whilst 

understanding that we must be respectful of the wider requirements being imposed on 

us all to contain this virus. 

 

I hope that you can understand this, and appreciate the genuine efforts gone to ensure 

this was carried out in the right and respectful manner. I didn’t want to say this but if 

I’m honest I imagine the complainant has had a thing against the festival for years and 

has spotted an opportunity through COVID-19 to try and leverage his case. 

Page 221



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

 

 

Number 15 

I my husband and our family attended Vicky Fenton’s ’Spaced Out Festival’ in late 

August this Summer. 

 

We were all very impressed by the Covid Rules and Regulations adhered to and our 

tickets allowed us to be on a picnic table of 6 people from one family./support bubble 

only. 

 

All the tables were marked with the ticket holders name on them in chalk and you had 

to stay on that particular table all evening. 

 

The Bar had a 'Social distancing’ policy, as did the food vans, of 2m+ per customer. 

There was a Socially Distanced Open Air Cinema running at the same time as the 

music so the music could not be loud. At all times we could speak without having to 

raise our voices and hear each other talking. 

Those attending were really friendly, nice and respectful of the beautiful environment 

they were in and included a large amount of local people of all ages. 

 

We had a thoroughly enjoyable evening with our family surrounded by a great bunch 

of people. 

 

 

Number 16 

I write as a member of the family that owns the land at Horseheath that has been the 

subject of complaints by Horseheath Parish Council, and therefore accept that I have 

a conflict of interest. Nevertheless, having attended both ‘festivals’ for a relatively brief 

time, I have to say that I do not recognise the portrayal being presented by Horseheath 

Parish Council at all, which contains a number of seemingly trumped up charges.  

 

The council has put up multiple signs in and around Horseheath headed “Notice of 

Application for a review of Premises Licence”. The last paragraph of that sign reads 

“It is an offence knowingly or recklessly to make a false statement in connection with 

an application, the maximum fine for which on summary conviction is £5000.” 

 

It appears to me that Horseheath Parish Council have knowingly made false 

statements in respect of the application. 

 

 

Number 17 

I have worked at Vicky Fenton’s festivals for two years they are extremely nice people 

the festivals are very well organised and the crowds are very polite and well behaved 

we were always able to hear each other speak the music was not at all loud and the 

Page 222



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

Covid rules were taken very seriously and definitely followed all the tables were 

spaced out and people were not breaking any rules. 

 

 

Number 18 

This mail is in respect to the licencing review of Spaced Out Festival initiated in 

response to a licence review request from Horseheath Village Council (HHPCC) 

 

Personal Details: I’m a 32 year old professional who lives within 2 miles of the event 

site (Steventon End). I attended the event this year with a group of friends. All of us 

were full-time professional workers over the age of 30, some with young children.  

Response to some of the specific allegations raised by HHPCC: 

 

1. Excessive Noise – Our allocated table seating area was within 10 meters of 

the main music-audio equipment on-site. At no time did I need to raise my 

voice to the group I was sat with in order to be heard clearly. By definition, 

the noise level could therefore not have exceeded those associated with 

normal speech at a distance of 10 meters from the source. HHPCC implies 

that the noise was excessive. It stands to reason normal-volume talking 

could not be classed as being within this category. Given the physical 

impossibility of noise being amplified over distance, I cannot agree in any 

way with the assessment by HHPCC that noise levels were in any way even 

approaching excessive. Additionally, on my return home to Steventon End 

– roughly equidistant from the site to Horseheath village – I could not hear 

the event.  

 

2. COVID rules – On arrival our re-arranged group (maximum of 6 people) was 

allocated a table which we were escorted to my a member of staff. The table 

had white markings surrounding it and we were advised we could not 

exceed them unless we were getting a drink or going make use of the toilet 

facilities. Queuing for the bar was managed effectively using barriers to 

mitigate the risk of any crowding at the bar space. I can not agree that I 

observed COVID rules being breached at this event. Security staff we’re 

clearly highly visible and present at all times and I observed on multiple 

occasions them reminding attendees of their obligations. The layout of the 

site and use of space clearly mitigated the risks that would be present in a 

more confined indoor event of any type.  

 

3. Damage to the site – I have been legally visiting the horseheath site for a 

number of years with the landowners permission. I noticed no damage or 

change to any of the flora. In fact I was greatly impressed by the obvious 

effort that had been taken to maintain the integrity of the site, including the 

refusal to have glass on-site and the use of natural removable materials in 

Page 223



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

any temporary structures. I have experience of working for some years in a 

UNESCO world heritage site – the Okavango Delta – where incredibly strict 

environmental protections are enforced due to the significantly more 

complex and fragile ecosystem that that which is present in Cambridgeshire. 

I therefore feel I am in a strong position to recognise clear instances of 

environmental damage and degradation, specifically elements of ecosystem 

degradation that may not be apparent to most individuals. I could see no 

evidence of any such degradation at horseheath. I commend the organisers 

for taking clear and intentional steps to ensure the preservation of flora and 

fauna at the site.  

 

4. Nature of the attendees – As per the e-mail address and signature below, 

I’m a professional working for a multi-billion Euro multinational firm. I 

attended the event with six friends who cover a range of professions, 

including a head-teacher and psychiatrist. We enjoy this event because it 

attracts an older more mature audience of respectable individuals. I 

recognised a good number of local people at the event who are members 

of the surrounding communities, many in their 40’s and 50’s. I can not reject 

more strongly that this event attracts individuals who in any way are likely 

to negatively impact the local area. 

 

Other points of note:  

 

1. On review of the supplied documentation I cannot support any of the allegations 

raised by HHPCC and note the total lack of qualitative and quantitative data provided 

to support the points set-out. In addition, the economic benefit to the area in a time 

when we look to be entering the largest recession in the last half-century should not 

be over-looked. The older, more mature an financially stable audience this event 

attracts spills over in to local hospitality, e.g. AirBNB bookings. It additionally generates 

income for local small firms and individuals directly engaged to deliver services to the 

event. 

 

2. On review of the material published on the Parish Council website – see 

screenshot inserted at the foot of this mail – I have deep concerns with the way 

qualitative data has been obtained by HHPCC. As part of my career I work with large 

organisations, including the UK government, to design and run representative 

experiments. We use qualitative and quantitative data gathered through these to help 

us allocate hundreds of millions of pounds in funding across different programs of 

work.  

 

Ensuring data collected is representative is crucial to obtaining a balanced picture from 

which we can make clear and rational decisions. The advertisement screenshotted at 

the foot of this mail is the only one present on the HHPCC website relating to the 

Page 224



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

spaced out festivals licencing review. There are a number of features present here 

that create significant issues: 

 

• Non-representative sampling: an advertisement placed on a website is 

automatically not representative of the population – in this case the ‘population’ 

in question being the residents of Horseheath parish. Key to generating 

representative sample data is randomization across the sample population. We 

have no data on who in the impacted population visits HHPCC website, but it 

is very likely not representative of the population. For example, elderly residents 

are unlikely to access webpages. This is why UK government does not use 

digital-only sampling.  

 

• Selection bias: Once we move past the issue of sampling, we next need to look 

at the repetitiveness of the qualitative data being solicited. On this topic there 

is a critical issue with the flyer shown below and via this link in as far as it 

specifically bars positive data from being supplied. This is clearly shown in the 

wording of the flyer - the original header is fine as the text “do you have an 

opinion about crofts wood this summer” implies both negative and positive 

qualitative data is valid for submission. However, it is clear from the remainder 

of the text, which incudes a series of unsubstantiated negatively-framed 

statements presented as fact after paragraph 1, that the sampler is only 

collecting negative qualitative data. The key here is the phrase “No?” in bold 

under paragraph 2. Whilst the rest of the wording is suggestive but not explicit, 

this phrase sets an unambiguously condition – namely that you can only submit 

information if that opinion is in the negative. I have never seen a more blatant 

example of selection bias. Therefore the data gathered by HHPCC is not just 

likely to be negative, it must be negative. 

 

Consequently HHPCC have, unintentionally I’m sure, not just skewed their sample of 

opinions, but not actually collected a sample at all. In order for data to be considered 

as representative then really we would need to select a statistically relevant random 

sample (32 people should be fine) from the area and define clear criteria for data 

collection – normally when gathering qualitative data of this nature a lickert scale 

response to defined questions that relate to local and national legislation would be 

optimal. 

 

 

Number 19 

1 Infringement of the Licence by the designated premises supervisor 

 

a) The supervisor has arranged events including 6 days of activity on site during 

the summer of 2020 in contravention of the licence (paragraph 2) – 20th June, 

21st‐23rd August and 12th‐13th September. 

Page 225



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

 

Camping options for the “Sunset Social” event on 12th‐13th September 

advertise tents as being available from 11th‐13th September 2020 (see 

https://www.woodvilleproject.co.uk/pages/sunsetsocials), suggesting paying 

guests were actually on site for three separate days. 

 

My Little Festival’s website advertises a much wider range of events than the 

licence allows (see https://mylittlefestival.uk/#ourevents). These include 

Festival themed parties, weddings, a family festival called the Wildwood 

Rumpus held over 2 days, corporate events and other parties. 

 

The Wildwood rumpus family festival was also scheduled to occur on 19th 

September 2020 but has been cancelled (see 

https://thewildwoodrumpus.com/). 

 

b) No consultation of the local Parish Council by the event organiser in advance 

of the events occurred in contravention of the licence (paragraph 20). 

c) It appears no checks of the decibel levels at nearby residential properties was 

carried out, so that local residents in Horseheath village and Cardinals Green 

were disturbed, contravening the licence (paragraph 22). Multiple complaints 

were received by the Parish Council.  

 

d) It appears the supervisor has allowed continued activity and disturbance of the 

local residents outside the scheduled time of the events on Sunday 13th 

September. Multiple complaints were received by the Parish Council up to the 

early evening. 

 

2 Concerns within the Licensing Objectives 

 

1 Public Safety 

 

a) Deviation from a submitted safety plan for 21st‐23rd August 

For this event, during a period of high alert for Covid, attendees were routed 

through Horseheath, through College Farm and along farm tracks. We 

understand this was not in the originally agreed event safety plan. 

 

b) Lack of Covid Secure practice 12th‐13th September 

Bell tents have been on offer for festival events. Bell tents are available for up 

to 5 people; there is no stipulation with regard to Covid in relation to the hiring 

of tents; the organisers appear to condone up to 5 people, possibly from 

different households sleeping together inside a bell tent. 

 

Eye witnesses to this event, which occurred on the weekend before the “Rule 

of 6” was introduced, state that there was no social distancing occurring during 

Page 226

https://www.woodvilleproject.co.uk/pages/sunsetsocials
https://mylittlefestival.uk/#ourevents
https://thewildwoodrumpus.com/


Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

the event. The premises supervisor herself describes the event as a “bloody 

good party” on her Facebook page on 16th September. This event was put on 

after Michael Gove had appealed to the population not to attend parties that 

weekend. 

 

Other large public events were cancelled (Trial limited attendance at Cambridge 

United and the Imperial War Museum at Duxford Air Show). 

 

2 Public Nuisance 

 

a) Activity in excess of the Licence As described in section 1 there have been 

more days of events – and therefore public music heard in Horseheath ‐ than 

the licence permits. 

 

b) Excess noise The Old Red Lion in Horseheath is 950 metres from the stage in 

Crofts Wood and dwellings in Cardinals Green about 1400 metres. There have 

been multiple complaints that the music was loud and disturbing inside and 

outside houses. This included a report of children’s sleep being disturbed during 

the weekend of 12th‐13th September.  

 

c) No consultation with local Parish Councils 

There was no communication with Horseheath Parish Council prior to the event 

on 21st‐23rd August or in preceding years. This meant that the Parish Council 

could not engage with the premises supervisor with regard to the event and had 

no dedicated “help line” to ring. The Parish Council found the premises 

supervisor number on the Wild Wood Events website. 

 

d) Items left in the wood 

Eye witnesses describe deckchairs and litter left to the South of Crofts Wood. 

 

3 Crime and Disorder 

 

a) Potential for illegal raves and other rural crime such as poachers and local 

burglaries 

The premises supervisor herself records concerns about illegal raves and thefts 

on her public Facebook page dated 16th September: 

“After a few negative things happening post event including booze being stolen 

from the site on Monday morning, I have now heard someone plans an illegal 

rave in my woods this weekend. I have invested 5 years of hard work, blood, 

sweat tears and love into the place and risked losing everything. Each year the 

party I created grows and I invest more – my stages are permanent and other 

things like bars live there too and need to be protected as does my licence and 

relations with 

Page 227



Representations – Objections & Support 28.10.2020 

the villagers.” 

 

The Parish Council is aware of police activity in relation to poachers on Friday 

21st August and in September. It is apparent that increased attention to this 

rural site may increase crime on the site and by extension locally. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 228



Representation Memo to Licensing re:  
Premises Licence Review, 

Wild Wood Events Ltd, Woodland and surrounding area  
(Grid Ref: TL 6137 4711 • X/Y CO-ORDS: 561371, 247117 • LAT/LONG: 

52.0989,0.35447331 OS Explorer map: 210 Newmarket & Haverhill) 
Horseheath Racecourse, Linton 

Cambs CB21 4QP 
 

27th October 2020 
  

 
I have considered the premises licence for Wild Wood Events Ltd, Woodland and 
surrounding area (Grid Ref: TL 6137 4711 • X/Y CO-ORDS: 561371, 247117 
LAT/LONG: 52.0989,0.35447331 OS Explorer map: 210 Newmarket & Haverhill) 
Horseheath Racecourse, Linton, Cambs CB21 4QP, in relation to the premises 
licence review and from an Environmental Health point of view, I have the following 
comments:  

I have reviewed the details on the request to review the premises licence, the current 
premises licence and conditions; and the premises history on M3.  

The request to review the current premises licence appears to relate to the licence 
holder failing to meet the Public Nuisance and Public Safety licensing objectives, due 
to excessive noise and not following COVID-19 Secure practices at events held in 
August and September 2020 at the premises. The applicant has also stated that 
certain premises licence conditions have not been complied with.  

I was not formally notified of any specific events taking place at the premises 
between May- October 2020. I do not believe that the Licensing team had been 
formally notified of any specific events either.  

However the licence holder had been in contact with me on a couple of occasions in 
July and August 2020 to discuss and explore what, if any, events she may be able to 
hold at the premises that could be COVID-19 Secure. We discussed the relevant 
Regulations, the relevant Government guidance and the licence holder made it clear 
she was in conversation with other event organisers, and that she was familiar with 
both the relevant Government guidance and the Event Industry Forum’s “Keeping 
workers and audiences safe during COVID-19 In the Outdoor Event Industry in 
England” Industry guidance.  

The licence holder mentioned that she was considering putting on an outdoor cinema 
event, and a “sunset” type of event to take advantage of the location of part of the 
site at sunset. We broadly discussed the logistics of putting on socially distanced 
events which could be appropriately managed, particularly around risk assessments, 
keeping people in their respective groups, socially distanced dancing, seating and 
movement around the site, including the purchase and collection of food and drinks, 
and the use of WC facilities etc. We also discussed the logistics of putting on a 
socially distanced music event and what, if any, types of controls would be needed to 
make the site and any such event COVID-19 secure. I emphasized the very definite 
difficulties of trying to appropriately manage groups of potentially intoxicated people 
from mixing with people who were not part of their specified groups, particularly if 
alcohol and music was involved.  

I was not aware of any actual event taking place at the premises until I received an 
email on 19th September 2020 from a colleague in the Cambs Police licensing team 
notifying me that an event had taken place at the premises on the previous weekend. 
It appeared from her email that she had not been notified of an event taking place 
that weekend either.  

APPENDIX Q

Page 229



I am not aware of any formal complaints being made to this department in relation to 
public (noise) nuisance or public safety (COVID-19) issues, linked to any activities or 
events that took place this year at these premises.  

The most recent complaints received by this department appear to relate to alleged 
loud music and amplified sound possibly originating from the premises in 2018 
although these were not formally substantiated at the time.  

Following the Licensing team receiving an application to review the premises licence 
I visited the “My Little Festival” facebook page (which I believe was set up, and is 
used, by the licence holder to publicize events at the premises) and saw photographs 
of what appeared to be people attending events at the premises in August and 
September 2020.   

Having reviewed the details of the application to review the premises licence and the 
existing premises licence and conditions, I am making the following representation.  

 

Kind regards 

 

Suzanne Christie 
Environmental Health Officer 

  

Page 230



THE LICENSING ACT 2003 

REPRESENTATION FORM FOR “RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITY”  

 

Please delete as applicable:   ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 

  

Name 

Job Title 

Suzanne Christie 

Environmental Health Officer 

Postal Address South Cambridgeshire Hall, Cambourne 
Business Park, Cambourne, 
Cambridgeshire, CB23 6EA 

Telephone Number  

Mobile Number  

Email Address suzanne.christie@scambs.gov.uk 

 

Name of Premises you are making a 
representation about: 

Wild Wood Events Ltd 

Address of the premises you are making 
a representation about: 

Woodland and surrounding area (Grid 
Ref: TL 6137 4711 • X/Y CO-ORDS: 
561371, 247117 • LAT/LONG: 
52.0989,0.35447331 OS Explorer map: 
210 Newmarket & Haverhill), Horseheath 
Racecourse, Linton, Cambs CB21 4QP 

This section is about your representation/s. They must relate to one or more of the 
Licensing Objectives. Please detail the evidence supporting your representation, 
(under the relevant headings) and the reason for your representation/s. It is important 
that you detail all matters that you wish to be considered. (Use additional sheets if 
necessary). Regulations provide that in considering representations the authority 
may take into account documentary or other information produced by the party either 
before the hearing or, with the consent of all parties, at the hearing. 

Which licensing objective(s) does 
your representation relate to? 

Please see below 

The Prevention of Crime and Disorder 

Not Applicable 

Public Safety 

See Below 

The Prevention of Public Nuisance 

See Below 

Protection of Children from Harm 

Not Applicable 

This Representation relates to the application to review the premises licence at: 

Wild Wood Events Ltd, Woodland and surrounding area (Grid Ref: TL 6137 
4711 • X/Y CO-ORDS: 561371, 247117 • LAT/LONG: 52.0989,0.35447331 OS 
Explorer map: 210 Newmarket & Haverhill), Horseheath Racecourse, Linton 
Cambs CB21 4QP 
 
in relation to the following matters: 

Prevention of Public Nuisance 

1. Condition 14 of the premises licence requires the licence holder to produce 

Page 231



and implement a relevant Event Management Plan (EMP), to be agreed by 
the Licensing Authority, and to include, where relevant and agreed with the 
Licensing Authority the following: 

a. Traffic management plan. 

b. Security management plan. 

c. Admission policy, including any search policy. 

d. Ejection policy, including any banning policy. 

e. Drugs and alcohol management plan. 

f. Management plan(s) regarding health and safety, food safety and fire safety 
arrangements in relation to contractors supplying and providing food, water 
and drinks to the event. 

g. Noise management plan. 

h. Medical and welfare plan. 

i. Management plan(s) regarding protection of children and vulnerable 
persons. 

j. Emergency procedures and contingency plans, to include evacuation plans 
and procedures in case of a serious incident or death at the site. 

k. Plan containing provision and management of on-site toilet facilities. The 
plan to include arrangements detailing the number and location of toilets, any 
disabled toilet provision; any separate provision for food handlers and the 
medical facility, and toilet emptying and cleaning schedules. 

l. Management plan in relation to litter, refuse and waste water facilities on 
site. The plan to include arrangements detailing the number and type of waste 
receptacles and their capacity, the placement of waste receptacles on site, 
the methods and frequencies of collection, the control and disposal of site 
waste and that refuse and waste water facilities shall be positioned at 
strategic points in the vicinity of caterers. 

m. Management plan regarding health and safety and fire safety 
arrangements in relation to contractors supplying and providing special 
effects, temporary structures and art installations to the event. 

n. Adverse weather plans, including appropriate contingency plans. 

o. A gridded site plan, including all areas of the site under the control of the 
licence holder (to include details stipulated in condition 15 of the premises 
licence). 

To my knowledge, no such EMP was submitted to me or the Licensing team 
by the licence holder prior to any event held in 2020. 

Having said that, I am not aware of any formal complaints being made to this 
authority relating to issues arising during or following any event at the 
premises this year. 

2. Condition 18 of the premises licence requires the licence holder to provide to 
the Licensing Authority, SCDC H&ES and Cambs Police, at least 7 days prior 
to any live and recorded music events, details of a named representative and 
a contact telephone number (of a dedicated event incidents/ noise hotline 
number, as stipulated in condition 19 of the premises licence), which will be 
staffed throughout the event.  

To my knowledge, no such details were submitted to SCDC H&ES, Cambs 

Page 232



Police or the Licensing team by the licence holder prior to any event held in 
2020. 

Having said that, I am not aware of any formal noise related, or other, 
incidents or complaints having been made to this authority relating to issues 
arising during or following any event at the premises this year. 

Public Safety  

3. There are some photographs displayed on the “My Little Festival” facebook 
page which could be interpreted as evidence of non-compliance with the 
relevant Regulations made under the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 
1984 (amended) and Government guidance that had been issued at the time 
relating to the COVID-19 pandemic and emergency period, including that 
event organisers should: 

• Discourage or avoid activities or features that are likely to encourage 
audience behaviours increasing transmission risk, such as crowding, 
clustering, communal dancing and physical contact outside of household 
groups or support bubbles. 

• Ensure that steps are taken to avoid audiences needing to unduly raise 
their voices to each other. This includes, but is not limited to, refraining 
from playing music or broadcasts that may encourage shouting, including if 
played at a volume that makes normal conversation difficult. This is 
because of the potential for increased risk of transmission, particularly from 
aerosol and droplet transmission. 

• Maximise social distancing and reduce pinch points, including when people 
are arriving, departing, within segregated pods or areas, collecting 
refreshments and visiting WC facilities etc. 

I am also not aware of whether a COVID-19 risk assessment had been 
produced, and the necessary controls identified and implemented.  

Having said that, the event organiser was not under any legal obligation to 
share any COVID-19 risk assessment with me prior to the event. 

 

I have no evidence to either prove or disprove that other conditions on the premises 
licence were breached or complied with. 

 

Signed:                                                        Date 27th October 2020 

 

 

Page 233



This page is left blank intentionally.



My Little Festival FB Page 01 Oct 2020 

APPENDIX R

Page 235



 

 

Page 236



 

 

Page 237



 

 

Page 238



 

 

Page 239



 

 

Page 240



 

 

Page 241



 

 

Page 242



 

 

Page 243



 

 

Page 244



 

 

Page 245



 

 

Page 246



 

Page 247



This page is left blank intentionally.



Response to Representations and the objection to the premises license.

Firstly, I’d like to say that I’m truly sorry that anyone in the Parish is upset at all 
about the small events we create.  We have a huge number of locals from 
Horseheath and it’s surrounding parishes attending,  they love and support 
what we do and to learn of any locals, however few,  are upset about 
something is of course something we want to mitigate and deal with.

In the first instance we can easily diffuse much of this anger and worry which 
we read in your representations by ensuring you all understand the truth.  
Most of your representations are driven by fear of expansion, the “ 3, 3 day 
events of up to 10,000 people” –whether your concern is the woodland 
environment, traffic issues, the village being inundated with visitors or crime 
and disorder, these are mostly around these supposed large events.  John 
Howard and I had several positive long phone calls and e‐mails in August and 
September, if only he had fact checked with me before this scaremongering it 
would have saved parishioners and myself a great deal of stress and not 
wasted council time.

The truth around the main concern of the representations 

We have no plans to run 3, 3 day festivals for up to 10,000 people. This has 
never been a plan.  These are not the kind of events my small company wants 
to run, we are running 2 small public events each year.  This fear of expansion 
to these large events seems to be the driver (understandably so) of the 
complaints.  Not only do we NOT want to do this, we know the limits of the 
area, the roads etc.  It is important everyone understands how closely we work 
with the council to make sure our events (mainly our largest one) run 
smoothly.  We have Safety Advisory Group meetings with, health and safety, 
the police, the traffic police, and the fire department

Planned events‐ Due to the pandemic we rolled over our 2020 events to 2021, 
namely The Wild Wood Rumpus – our family day and The Wild Wood Disco.  
We also rolled over two private events, a wedding and a corporate team 
building day.  These events were all that was planned for 2020 and are 
currently still all that is planned for next year, although as we all know the 
pandemic may mean some of these events simply cannot take place.

APPENDIX S

Page 249



The Wild Wood Disco is our largest event, which we can have 2.500 customers 
on site.  As well as being the largest event we also understand that this is the 
one with loudest music, therefore this is the event that we need to monitor 
closely and the event we spend months planning to ensure it’s safe.  We ran 
this event in 2019 with 2,400 people (close to full capacity).  We have to work 
closely with the council well in advance of this event, and send in our traffic 
management plans, event plans, health and safety plans, security plans etc.  
Last year we put in a large amount of infrastructure, including fencing and 
security with dogs patrolling the perimeter of the woods to keep it safe, 
therefore no one is “wandering everywhere”, they are very much kept in a 
small area on the estate.  In 2018 and 2019 we gave out a phone number to 
the parish council for noise complaints.  For the 2019 event we had no security 
issues or trouble, no need for our medical team to act on anything or use the 
ambulance on site, no traffic issues and no noise complaints.  The biggest 
portion of ticket buyers are 35‐55, we have a very warm, respectful, older 
crowd in the most part and have never had any trouble or medical issues since 
we first ran the event in 2017.

Environmental Damage

We are a tiny company with a big conscience and always put our 
environmental beliefs before profit, whether that is ensuring we don’t use 
single use plastic on site, or carbon off setting car and plane journeys from our 
artists.  We invested a lot building our stages with an eco‐builder who uses 
sourced materials from the ground to create natural stages that fit with the 
surrounding, he is the head of Greenpeace build at Glastonbury and will only 
work ethically.  No trees have ever been felled for the purpose of our events in 
Crofts Wood.  We work with the woodland trust at our family event, The Wild 
Wood rumpus, through them and The Fairyland Trust and our bush craft 
expert from Audley End, children are taught about the trees and the 
environment and learn a lot through the woodland paths.   The estate earning 
money through the hire of the site to me enables money to go into keeping the 
land, managing the woodland and keeping local people employed.  

We have consultations with the woodland trust arranged about mitigating any 
disruption to wildlife in the woodland.  The woodland is managed by Thurlow 
Estate using all best practice laid out by government law.  Crofts wood 
represents less than 1% of the woodland that Thurlow Estate manage and is 
neither SSSI or semi‐ancient woodland.  They own 1,470 acres of woodland - of 

Page 250



which 590 acres have during the Vestey family's stewardship been designated 
SSSI's.  Some of our money from this years event was planned to go into re‐
planting schemes and the protection of the ancient woodlands on the site. 

By phone call and e‐mail I spoke with John Howard about trying to direct some 
profit to the Millennial Wood next year so the parish could benefit if our small 
events could run.  

Impact on the villages 

With our 2019 event being close to capacity and no negative effects on the 
surrounding villages being noted we feel the local area can mostly benefit from 
our events.  All hotels and pubs in the surrounding areas are full for the 
weekends of our events, we know this as we have had to search for rooms for 
people.  They also benefit for Sunday lunch trade the following day.  We 
employ local crew, local food traders, and use local suppliers of sound 
equipment alcohol and toilets.  We do understand some noise may be heard 
on the day of the wild wood disco; we speak to lots of locals who have offered 
us their contact details in villages to learn of their experience as well as 
checking by car in the villages themselves.  This year our sound systems were 
turned off sharply at 11pm so any noise heard outside of that would have 
come from a private residence, that is also the case for the noise heard at 4am 
back in 2018 ( we do remember this complaint as when we have them they are 
taken very seriously).  Also, regarding comments around burglary etc. this is a 
tiny event with a wonderful audience who are well contained with security 
measures in place laid out by the council which are sufficient for a much larger 
event and very costly to us.  We do not feel this statement to be fair or correct 
and as mentioned we were 100 below full capacity last year and no negative 
instances took place.  This is not going to be another Secret Garden Party, 
which was for 35,000, ran for 4 days and had some 24 hour sound systems, 
there is no risk of that with us running events there.

Regarding the illegal rave rumour.   This was something I heard and took 
incredibly seriously, there has been a huge increase in illegal raves around the 
country during covid, the unlicensed events, with no medical, no security, no 
litter picking and no regard for their surroundings are very dangerous for those 
people that attend such events.  The rumour I had heard was concerning 
woods in the Linton area.  I reported this to the officer that is involved in our 
Wild Wood Disco safety advisory meetings who explored the local area looking 
for signs of anything happening. I visited the site myself during the day and the 

Page 251



previous evening looking for any signs I could report to the police.  I also 
looked in all the other wooded areas on the Horseheath racecourse site.  The 
rise of illegal raves is directly related to Covid and young people having nothing 
to do and are run by gangs for profit with no regard for safety. Our activity in 
the woodland in the summer may well have helped ensure nothing did happen 
there. This is a time to be very villigant of these things and hopefully when 
Covid has gone the spectre of these events will diminish.  Thurlow estate has, 
like any UK landowner, historically suffered from unwanted activity on the land 
such as hare coursing and theft and this is notably reduced when we are 
regularly on site. We all need to be alert and looking out for such problems 
rather than blaming each other.

2020 was going to be the first year we had the capability to give very cheap 
tickets to villagers which is what we are frequently contacted about from 
Horseheath, Bartow and Linton, we hope we can start this up in 2021.  We 
have many local people come that incredibly grateful to have these events on 
the doorstep and have come from the start, they really love these events and 
have a sense of ownership of them as their local events and we know any of 
them very well now.  We also hope the cheaper tickets will open up the 
possibility for more locals to come and experience what we are doing, whether 
families or those that want to come to our woodland party.

Breaking our Licensing Conditions

There were 3 days of licensable activity on the site this year as per our 
premises license.  If we had wanted to run another day of licensable activity 
with the events being for under 499 people, we would have applied for a 
temporary event notice or TENS to do so.

I forgot and profusely apologised to e‐mail Horseheath Parish council before 
the August event.  John Howard and I went over this, I was working very hard 
putting an event on at such short notice and was hugely focused on the Covid 
regulations, he did accept my apology and I have assured him that this will 
never happen again.  This was a mistake which I am very sorry about.  We have 
notified the parish council about everything else.

We had all the relevant paperwork on site as we had been asked to hold it 
there rather that send to the police or the council, we could have made this 
available to the parish council if they had asked and this is being shared with 
you now.  Are events are planned meticulously.

Page 252



Covid regulations 

On a personal note I am someone who has received a transplant, had half a 
lung removed and no spleen, I shielded for over  3 months earlier this year and 
am extremely high risk.  We went above and beyond what would be expected 
to create a safe and risk free environment at our event this year in line with all 
the relevant government guidelines at the time.  Our crowd were very 
respectful and just happy to be out somewhere they love in the open air.  We 
created an environment far safer than a supermarket, beach, café, pub.   We 
used ticket sellers ticket agents to track and trace and our crowd were told not 
to go into the villages/ local shops.

People had to book in a group to sit on a table of up to 6 people.  Each table 
had a sprayed white line around where people could get up and dance but 
must stay within the lines.  We had a one way system routed through the 
woods.  We had large number of toilets for the numbers which were cleaned 
hourly.  We had hand washing and hand sanitising points all through the wood.  
We had to use disposable cups but made sure these were bio‐degradable.  We 
had security working through the night to ensure social distancing, safety and 
for the very few that were camping (not more than 20) to ensure they stayed 
within their tents at night.  

The events we ran could still be run now under government covid regulations.  
We would not choose to do so as I am constantly checking figures and the R 
number in our area.  On the 12th September the R rate in the area was 0.7.  To 
compare the event to cancelled events at Duxford and football matches 
without bookable seated areas, huge amounts of space to socially distance and 
the difficulty of toilets, squeeze points et is not a useful comparism.  We held a 
safe event. All of our Covid Documents are to be forwarded by the council for 
you to read in detail if you wish.

The route into the farm we used on 1 night of the 21st September was used by 
24 cars (parked at the event) and 9 taxis for an evening which had just 90 
people on site so we need to keep into perspective the size and effect of these 
events.  We understand through the chair of the parish council the long 
standing bad feeling surrounding this route and bridge with the parish (if he 
speaks for everyone) and the landowners and we were unaware of this.  Please 
don’t pass this bad feeling onto us.  This was used 1 time only.

Page 253



Actions of the Chair of the Parish Council 

We note the trespassing onto private property, the libel and slander published 
by poster, e‐mail, local magazine against Wild Wood Events.  We have sought 
legal consultation on the latter, but our aim is to build a strong relationship 
with the villagers as I felt I was doing with John by phone and e‐mail – we do 
not wish to inflame the situation he has created.  Therefore, at this time decide 
to take no further action against him.  We hope that there is an understanding 
that inflammatory lies spread to the villagers will damage this tiny business 
and is not acting as a parish councillor should act.   As a representative of the 
parish the truth should have sought before any materials were published.   We 
also ask why there is still and has never been an agenda published for the 14th 
September meeting on the website and on the village noticeboard (it has been 
opened to include the poster “Wildlife or Disco”).  There are still no minutes 
included.  How can people air their comments regarding an issue without an 
agenda being known?

From 2018 we have contacted Horseheath Parish Council at this address 
horseheathpc@gmail.com

This e-mail from the 9th May 2018

,

I am the organiser of The Wild Wood Rumpus and The Wild Wood Disco that 
take place in the woodland on Horseheath Racecourse on the 9th and the 30th 
June.  I ran 1 of these events last year and we received no complaints from 
Horseheath, but we just wanted to inform everyone in the parish it was running 
again and give you my contact details if you have any concerns.  The first event 
has an end time of 9.30pm and the second event has an end time of 2am we will 
of course be complying with noise regulations.  We expect a maximum of 1,800 
including staff at the events.  

Please do contact me if you have any concerns,

All the best,

Vicky Fenton
07545629579

Page 254



 
A little bit more about our company ethos

We are a tiny company, running events at Thurlowe Estate, at The Cambridge 
Union and private events mostly at people’s houses.  

We have core principles that guide us in everything we do.

1.  Quality.  To create events which bring extraordinary experiences and 
lifelong memories.  We want our audience to experience something that 
surprises whether that be an art installation at The Wild Wood Disco, a 
debate that enlightens at The Sunday Papers Live, or education through 
fun at The Wild Wood Rumpus.  We want to offer entertainment, 
culture and education.

2. Care.  We care about every detail at our events and pour a lot of love 
and time into them.  We also care about our staff and ensure we are 
inclusive in our employment.   We try and employ as local as possible (all 
of our staff come from within a 25 mile radius, our suppliers(mostly) 
within a 30 mile radius).  We want to open job opportunities to young 
people and have worked with Anglia Ruskin to enable artists, 
photographers and journalists to have a chance to gain experience on 
site and have their work shown or published. 

3. Sustainability.  The environment matters to us a lot.  We put 
sustainability before profit and ensure we don’t use single use plastic, 
we offset carbon footprints, we recycle, we encourage respect and 
understanding of the environment at our events and encourage 
attendees to leave no trace.  We hope to start a tree planting scheme as 
part of 2021 if events can go ahead as we had planned if our big event 
could have gone ahead this year.

4. Honesty and Integrity.  We are transparent with our customers in every 
way and have built a loyal following based on trust.  When working as a 
team we consider ourselves a family with open communication.  The 
way we communicate with our customers and the events we produce 
mean we have 1,000 people holding onto their ticket for 2020 for 2021 
for The Wild Wood Disco as they wanted to help our business to carry on 
through the pandemic.  

This year we applied for an arts council application for The Wild Wood 
Rumpus.  At the beginning of the pandemic we were told we had a strong 

Page 255



application being considered but that for 2020 all grants were now, not to go 
ahead.  Our aim here was to open up the site for 1 or 2 days ahead of the 
event day (not licensable activity) to local school children, particularly children 
from low socio‐economic backgrounds.  These are children that wouldn’t 
benefit from being taken to an event like this, to learn about woodlands, the 
environment and play outside.  We very much hope this is something we can 
do in the future.

Page 256


	Agenda
	2 Introductions / Procedure
	4 Review of the premises licence for Wild Wood Events Ltd
	APPENDIX A
	APPENDIX A
	Redacted - Complaint re Wildwood disco in Crofts Wood920

	APPENDIX B
	APPENDIX C
	APPENDIX D
	APPENDIX E
	APPENDIX F
	APPENDIX G
	APPENDIX H
	APPENDIX I
	APPENDIX J
	APPENDIX K
	APPENDIX L
	APPENDIX M
	APPENDIX N
	APPENDIX O
	APPENDIX P
	APPENDIX Q
	APPENDIX R
	APPENDIX S




